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UNITED STATES
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant tsrequired to file reports pursuant to Section L$ection 15(d) of the Act. Yed
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, ohdhge Act. However, pursuant to Rule 12b-2 and BE@ase No. 33-8876, the registrant
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PART |
Item 1. Business

Overview

We develop and market premium and super premiumdsran the following beverage alcohol categoriam,rwhiskey, liqueurs,
vodka and tequila. We distribute our products Irb@lU.S. states and the District of Columbia himteen primary international markets,
including Ireland, Great Britain, Northern Irelar@@ermany, Canada, Israel, Bulgaria, France, Finlalodway, Sweden, Denmark, China and
the Duty Free markets, and in a number of othent@ms. We market the following brands, among ather

+  Goslin¢s rum®

« Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer

« Goslin¢'s Dark‘n Stormy® ready-to-drink cocktail
« Jefferso’s®bourbon

+ Jeffersor’s Reserv®

« Jeffersor’s Ocean Aged at S®

. Jefferson’s The Manhattan: Barrel Finished Cocktail
. Jefferson’s Chef's Collaboration

. Jefferson's Presidential Select™

« Jefferson’s Rye whiskey

«  Pallini®liqueurs

+  Clontarf®Irish whiskey

«  Knappogue Castle Whisk¢®

«  Brady's®lIrish Crearr

+ Boru®vodka

« Tierras™ tequila

+  Celtic Honey® liqueur

+ Castello Mio® sambuc

*  Gozio®amarettc

Our brands
We market the premium and super premium brandsdlisélow.

Gosling’s rum and ginger beerWe are the exclusive U.S. distributor for Gosknmims, including Gosling’s Black Seal Dark Rum,
Gosling’s Gold Bermuda Rum and Gosling’s Old Rure Tzosling family produces these rums in Bermudeeres Gosling’s rums have been
under continuous production and ownership by thsliGg family for over 200 years. We hold a 60% colting interest in Gosling-Castle
Partners Inc., a global export venture betweemdsttae Gosling family. Gosling-Castle Partners thasexclusive long-term export and
distribution rights for the Gosling’s rum produéts all countries other than Bermuda. The Goslingis brands accounted for approximately
30% and 34% of our revenues for our 2015 and 23télfyears, respectively. We also distribute Gaopé Stormy Ginger Beer, an essential
non-alcoholic ingredient in Gosling’s trademarkear®‘n Stormy® rum cocktail and the Gosling's Dark ‘n Storfgocktail in a ready-to-
drink can.

Jefferson’s bourbons and rye whiskeyWe develop and market four premium, very smaitthdourbons: Jefferson’s, JefferseiReserve
Jefferson’s Ocean Aged at Sea and Jefferson’sdemsal Select. Each of these four distinct premientucky bourbons is blended in batche:s
using select barrels of certain mash bills and sg@soduce specific flavor profiles. We also markefferson's Straight Rye Whiskey, a
premium whiskey distilled from 100% North Americeye, Jefferson’s Chef's Collaboration, a blend ofithon and rye, and Jefferson’s The
Manhattan: Barrel Finished Cocktail, a ready-taidcocktail.

Pallini liqueurs . We have the long-term exclusive U.S. distributiights (excluding duty free sales) for Pallini lancello and its related
brand extensions. Pallini Limoncello is a premiwmbn liqueur, which is served iced cold, on théksamr as an ingredient in a wide variety of
drinks, ranging from martinis to iced tea. It is@lised in cooking, particularly for pastries aakles. Pallini Limoncello is crafted from an
authentic family recipe. It is made with Italy’sifist Sfusato Amalfitano lemons that are hand-sdefctr optimal freshness and flavor. There
are two other flavor extensions of this Italiarumr: Pallini Peachcello, made with white peached, Pallini Raspicello, made from a
combination of raspberries and other berries.




Clontarf Irish whiskeys. Our family of Clontarf Irish whiskeys currentlggresents a majority of our case sales of Iristskéyi. Clontarf,
an accessible and smooth premium Irish whiskegisiglled using quality grains and pure Irish sgrimater. Clontarf is then aged in bourbon
barrels and mellowed through Irish oak charcoadn@lrf is available in single malt and classic i@rs.

Knappogue Castle whiskiesNe developed our Knappogue Castle Whiskey, desimglt Irish whiskey, to build on both the popithaof
single malt Scotch whisky and the growth in theHnvhiskey category. Knappogue Castle Whiskeysslliéid in pot stills using malted barley
and is aged twelve years. We have introduced Kngygpdwin Wood, the first Sherry Finished Knappo@Qastle Whiskey. The whiskey is
matured for sixteen years in two types of wood ltegpin a perfectly balanced single malt Irish skey with a complex, rich taste and a
slightly sweet sherry finish. Knappogue Castle 1854 pure pot-still whiskey that was distilledli®51 and then aged for 36 years in sherry
casks. The name comes from an lIrish castle, foynmsvhed by Mark Edwin Andrews, the originator oé thrand and the father of Mark
Andrews, our chairman.

Brady's Irish Cream liqueurs Brady’s Irish Cream, a high quality Irish creémmade in small batches using Irish whiskey, da&gh
cream and natural flavors.

Boru vodka. Boru vodka, a premium vodka produced in Irelamas developed in 1998 and is named after the leggndigh King of
Ireland, Brian Boru, who united the Irish clans andve foreign invaders out of Ireland. It is fitigres distilled using pure spring water for
smoothness and filtered through ten feet of charoaae from Irish oak for increased purity.

Celtic Honey liqueur. Celtic Honey is a premium brand of Irish liquétiat is a unique combination of Irish spirits, cagrand a taste of
honey. Gaelic Heritage Corporation Limited, anl@ffé of one of our bottlers, has the exclusivétsgo produce and supply us with Celtic
Honey.

Castello Mio sambucadn May 2013, we introduced Castello Mio, a supempium sambuca. Castello Mio Sambuca is made bytdrot
Distilleries S.r.L. (“Brotto”), a family company i a tradition of crafting fine liqueurs in the \&o region of Italy since the 1800'’s, and is
available in the “classico” style as well as espoes

Tierras tequilas. “Tequila Tierras Autenticas de Jalisco”™ or “Tras” is an organic, super-premium, USDA certifiegamic tequila and
is available as blanco, reposado and afiejo. Weharexclusive U.S. importer and marketer of Tierras

Gozio amaretta In 2011, we became the exclusive U.S. distribfdoGozio amaretto, which is made from a secreipeethat combines
selected fruits from four continents.

Our strategy

Our objective is to continue building Castle Brantte a profitable international spirits companythaa distinctive portfolio of
premium and super premium spirits brands. To aehikis, we continue to seek to:

« focus on our more profitable brands and markeWe continue to focus our distribution efforts, sadxpertise and targeted
marketing activities on our more profitable braadsl markets

« grow organically.We believe that continued organic growth will erabs to achieve long-term profitability. We focus o
brands that have profitable growth potential aagisg power, such as our rums and whiskies, sdledich have grown
approximately 46% over the past two fiscal ye

« build consumer awarenesWe use our existing assets, expertise and resotordesld consumer awareness and market
penetration for our brand

» leverage our distribution networkOur established distribution network in all 50 Usgtes enables us to promote our brands
nationally and makes us an attractive strategithpafor smaller companies seeking U.S. distribytand

« selectively add new brand extensions and brandsupportfolio. We intend to continue to introduce new brand exterss
and expressions. For example, we have leveragesuoaessful Jefferson’s portfolio by introducinguanber of brand
extensions. We continue to explore strategic m@istiips, joint ventures and acquisitions to seletiexpand our premium
spirits portfolio. We expect that future acquisitsoor agency relations, if any, would involve sasnebination of cash, debt
and the issuance of our sto

Production and supply

There are several steps in the production and gypptess for beverage alcohol products. Firspfadlur spirits products are distilled. T
is a multi-stage process that converts basic ingnésl such as grain, sugar cane or agave, inbhalcNext, the alcohol is processed and/or
aged in various ways depending on the requirenadritee specific brand. For our vodka, this proaagss designed to remove all other
chemicals, so that the resulting liquid will be ddes and colorless, and have a smooth quality avitimal harshness. Achieving a high level
of purity involves a series of distillations antrition processes.




For our spirits brands, rather than removing flavarious complex flavor profiles are achieved tigio one or more of the following
techniques: infusion of fruit, addition of variofiavoring substances, and, in the case of rumsadmskeys, aging of the brands in various ty
of casks for extended periods of time and the hiendf several rums or whiskeys to achieve a unitpr profile for each brand. After the
distillation, purification and flavoring processa® completed, the various liquids are bottledsTimolves several important stages, including
bottle and label design and procurement, fillingtref bottles and packaging the bottles in variargigurations for shipment.

We do not have significant investments in distitiat bottling or other production facilities or egment. Instead, we have entered into
relationships with several companies to provides¢hgervices to us. We believe that these typegarigements allow us to avoid committing
significant amounts of capital to fixed assets padnit us to have the flexibility to meet growirgjes levels by dealing with companies whose
capacity significantly exceeds our current neet@i®sE relationships vary on a brand-by-brand basisaussed below. As part of our ongoing
cost-containment efforts, we intend to continuestdew each of our business relationships to deterifiwe can increase the efficiency of our
operations.

Gosling’s rum and ginger beer

Gosling’s rums have been produced by the Goslifagisly in Hamilton, Bermuda for over 200 years andder our distribution
arrangements with Gosling's Export (Bermuda) Liohit&Gosling’s Export”), they have retained the tigh act as the sole supplier to Gosling-
Castle Partners Inc. with respect to our Goslingia requirements. Gosling's sources its rums irCiéwgbbean and transports them to Bermud
where they are blended according to proprietaripesc The rums are then sent to Heaven Hill Déstidls, Inc.’s plant in Bardstown, Kentucky
where they are bottled, packaged, stored and sthifgpeur third-party warehouse. In 2007, Goslirngtgeased its blending and storage
facilities in Bermuda to accommodate our supplydsder the foreseeable future. We believe Heavédirhels ample capacity to meet our
projected bottling needs for the foreseeable futBee “Strategic brand-partner relationships.”

Our Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer is produced byaP&8everages (“Polar”), the country’s largest inglegent soft-drink bottler, a fourth-
generation, family-owned business that traceitsrback to 1882. Polar produces the ginger tmsarding to Gosling’s formula and
requirements and cans and bottles the producteabbits facilities in the United States. We bedidRolar has ample capacity to meet our
projected needs for the foreseeable future.

Knappogue Castle and Clontarf Irish whiske

In 2012, we entered into two long-term supply agreets with Irish Distillers Limited (“IDL")a subsidiary of Pernod Ricard, under wt
it has agreed to supply us with the aged single amal grain whiskeys used in our Knappogue Cadtiskey products and all of our Clontarf
Irish whiskey products. The first supply agreenmotvides for the production of blended Irish whigkéor us until the contract is terminated
by either party in accordance with the terms ofageeement. IDL may terminate the contract if dyides at least six years prior notice, excep
for breach. Under this agreement, we provide IDthwi forecast of the estimated amount of literpw® alcohol we require for the next four
fiscal contract years and agree to purchase thatiathsubject to certain annual adjustments. Thersksupply agreement provides for the
production of single malt Irish whiskeys for usiutite contract is terminated by either party ic@cance with the terms of the agreement.
may terminate the contract if it provides at ldhgteen years prior notice, except for breach. &frttlis agreement, we provide IDL with a
forecast of the estimated amount of liters of plo®hol we require for the next twelve fiscal caetryears and agree to purchase that amoun
subject to certain annual adjustments. We are lol@aied to pay for any product not yet receivelde Whiskeys are then sent to Terra Limited
(“Terra”) in Baileyboro, Ireland, where they arettbed in bottles we designed and packaged for seimVe believe that Terra, which also
acts as bottler for certain of our Boru vodka asg@ducer and bottler of our Brady’s Irish Creand as bottler for Celtic Honey, which is
supplied to us by one of Terra’s affiliates), haffisient bottling capacity to meet our current degand both Terra and IDL have the capacity
to meet our anticipated future supply needs.

Terra provides intake, storage, sampling, tesfitigring, filling, capping and labeling of bottlesase packing, warehousing and loading
and inventory control for our Knappogue Castle &tmhtarf Irish whiskeys at prices that are adjustedually by mutual agreement based on
changes in raw materials and consumer price indexesases up to 3.5% per annum. This agreemempatwvides for maintenance of product
specifications and minimum processing proceduresuding compliance with applicable food and aldalegulations and maintenance, stor
and stock control of all raw products and finisipedducts delivered to Terra. Terra holds all al¢amoits premises under its customs and
excise bond. Our bottling and services agreemett "@rra will expire on June 30, 2015. We expectdntinue to operate under the terms of
the expiring contract as we negotiate a new agraewi¢h Terra. We believe we could obtain alteatources of bottling and services if we
are unable to renew the existing Terra contract.

Jefferson’s whiskeys

Jefferson’s, Jefferson’s Reserve, Jefferson’s Oégpt at Sea and Jefferson’s Presidential Selagbioos, Jefferson’s Chef's
Collaboration blended bourbon and rye, Jeffersoyésand Jefferson’s The Manhattan: Barrel FinisBedktail are bottled for us by Luxco,
Inc. (“Luxco”), in Cleveland, OH, from our stock$ aged bourbon and rye. We blend no more than ¢igtwelve barrels to produce specific
flavor profiles of each of our bourbon productsuBmon has been in short supply in the U.S. in regears, and we have been actively seekin
alternate sourcing for future supply. We have aeglistocks of aged bourbon, which we anticipatésuibply our currently forecasted needs
for the Jefferson’s brand, although there is nar@sse we can source adequate amounts of bourlrye,df demand is greater than expected,
at satisfactory prices.






Pallini liqueurs

Pallini SpA ("Pallini"), as successor in interest L..A.R. S.p.A., an Italian company based in Raand owned since 1875 by the Pallini
family, produces Pallini Limoncello, Raspicello aRdachcello. Pallini bottles the liqueurs at ieplin Rome and ships them to us under our
long-term exclusive U.S. marketing and distributemreement. We believe that Pallini has adequatktifss to produce and bottle sufficient
Limoncello, Peachcello and Raspicello to meet ouedeeable needs. See “Strategic brand-partnéiprships.”

Boru vodka

We have a supply agreement with Cargill Plc, aitggé&uropean producer of grain neutral spiritpriovide us with the distilled alcohol
used in our Boru vodka. The supply agreement pesvfdr Cargill to produce natural spirit for us lwitpecified levels of alcohol content
pursuant to specifications set forth in the agregraad at specified prices through its expiratioecember 2015, in quantities designated by
us. We believe that Cargill has sufficient distiflicapacity to meet our needs for Boru vodka ferfthieseeable future. In the event that we do
not renew the Cargill agreement, we believe thatwllebe able to obtain grain neutral spirits framother supplier.

The five-times distilled alcohol is delivered frabargill to the bottling premises at Terra, wheris fiiltered in several proprietary ways,
and pure water is added to achieve the desired.ddepending on the size of the bottle, Boru voiktinen either bottled at Terra or shipped ir
bulk to the U.S. and bottled at Luxco, where welbatertain sizes for the U.S. market. We belidwa both Terra and Luxco have sufficient
bottling capacity to meet our current needs, antl have the capacity to meet our anticipated fusugply needs. As described above, our
bottling and services agreement with Terra williexpn June 30, 2015. We expect to continue toaipamder the terms of the expiring
contract as we negotiate a new agreement with T@feabelieve we could obtain alternative sourcesadfing and services if we are unable to
renew the existing Terra contract.

Brady's Irish Cream

Brady'’s Irish Cream is produced for us by Terra&dhrcream is combined with Irish whiskey, graintrespirits and various flavorings to
our specifications, and then bottled by Terra ittles designed for us. We believe that Terra has#pacity to meet our foreseeable supply
needs for this brand. As described above, ouribgtind services agreement with Terra will expineJane 30, 2015. We expect to continue to
operate under the terms of the expiring contragt@segotiate a new agreement with Terra. We belew could obtain alternative sources of
bottling and services if we are unable to renewetkisting Terra contract.

Celtic Honey liqueur

Gaelic Heritage Corporation Limited, an affiliateTerra, has a contractual right to act as the sofmlier to us of Celtic Honey. Gaelic
Heritage mixes the ingredients comprising Celtimeyusing a proprietary formula and then Terralésit for them in bottles designed for us.
We believe that the necessary ingredients areablaito Gaelic Heritage in sufficient supply andttiierra’s bottling capacity is currently
adequate to meet our projected supply needs. Sese§ic brand-partner relationships.”

Castello Mio sambucas

Castello Mio sambucas are produced for us by Bintt@arnuda, Italy. Grain neutral spirits, sugad aarious natural flavor essences are
combined to our specifications, and then bottled@kgtto in bottles designed for us. We believe Battto has the capacity to meet our
foreseeable supply needs for this brand.

Gozio amaretto

We are the exclusive U.S. distributor for Gozio agtta. Gozio amaretto is produced by Distilleriakeiacorta, a spirits company founded
in 1901 and owned by the Gozio family. The compigrigcated in Franciacorta, in the Italian Regibh@mbardy. We believe that Distillerie
Franciacorta has sufficient capacity to meet otggeeable supply needs for this brand.

Tierras tequilas

Tierras Tequila Autenticas de Jalisco or “Tierrmsbeing produced for us in Mexico by Autentica ikgra S.A. de C.V. Autentica
Tequilera currently sources organic agave frondtparties, and together with its affiliates islie {process of cultivating its own supply of
organic agave. Autentica Tequilera distills andlbstthe tequila at its facility in the Jalisco ie@gof Mexico. Tierras is available as blanco,
reposado and afiejo. The blanco is unaged, theadpas aged in oak barrels at the distillery fotapne year, and the afiejo is aged in oak
barrels at the distillery for at least one year. Mééeve that, given the ability of Autentica Telgua to purchase organic agave and its
anticipated cultivation of organic agave, Autenfieguilera has sufficient capacity to meet our$emmable supply needs for this brand.

Distribution network
We believe that the distribution network that weédeveloped with our sales team and our indepérmtiginibutors and brokers is one of

our strengths. We currently have distribution arakbrage relationships with third-party distribugtan all 50 U.S. states, as well as distributior
arrangements in approximately 20 other countries.






U.S. distribution

Background.Importers of beverage alcohol in the U.S. mustthelir products through a three-tier distributigntem. Typically, an
imported brand is first sold to a U.S. importer,onthen sells it to a network of distributors, oraldsalers, covering the U.S., in either “open”
states or “control” states. In the 33 open statesdistributors are generally large, privatelyehedmpanies. In the 17 control states, the states
themselves function as the distributor, and regudappliers such as us. The distributors and whldesin turn sell to individual retailers, such
as liquor stores, restaurants, bars, supermarkdtsther outlets licensed to sell beverage alcdhdarger states such as New York, more thar
one distributor may handle a brand in separatergpbical areas. In control states, importers keirtproducts directly to state liquor
authorities, which distribute the products andegithperate retail outlets or license the retags#linction to private companies, while
maintaining strict control over pricing and profit.

The U.S. spirits industry has consolidated drarafijiover the last ten years due to merger andisitiqun activity. There are currently
eight major spirits companies, each of which owd aperate their own importing businesses. All conigs, including these large companies,
are required by law to sell their products throuwgtolesale distributors in the U.S. The major conigaare exerting increasing influence over
the regional distributors and as a result, it hesoime more difficult for smaller companies to delit products recognized by the distributors.
We believe our established distribution networklirb0 states allows us to overcome a significamtibr to entry in the U.S. beverage alcohol
market and enhances our attractiveness as a strptatner for smaller companies lacking comparaisé&ibution.

For fiscal 2015, our U.S. sales represented apmprately 86.2% of our revenues, and we expect therartain relatively consistent as a
percentage of our total sales in the near futuge.rte 16 to our accompanying consolidated firdstatements.

Importation. We currently hold the federal importer and wholeséitense required by the Alcohol and Tobacco dmck Trade Bureau of
the U.S. Treasury Department, and the requisite §iteense in all 50 states and the District ofuabia.

Our inventory is strategically maintained in lalgended warehouses and shipped nationally by am&xtenetwork of licensed and
bonded carriers.

Wholesalers and distributordn the U.S., we are required by law to use staeaed distributors or, in the control statesestatned
agencies performing this function, to sell our ligito retail outlets. As a result, we depend otriligtors for sales, for product placement and
for retail store penetration. We currently havedigiribution agreements or minimum sales requirgsesith any of our U.S. alcohol
distributors, and they are under no obligationlsme our products or market our brands. All ofdieributors also distribute our competitors’
products and brands. As a result, we must fostgmaeintain our relationships with our distributoFéirough our internal sales team, we have
established relationships for our brands with wkale distributors in each state, and our produetearrently sold in the U.S. by
approximately 80 wholesale distributors, as welbbpwsarious state beverage alcohol control agencies

International distribution

In our foreign markets, most countries permit sdiesctly from the brand owner to retail establigmts, including liquor stores, chain
stores, restaurants and pubs, without requiringgiles go through a wholesaler tier. In our iraéomal markets, we rely primarily on
established spirits distributors in much the sarag as we do in the U.S. We have contracted witimmnational beverage alcohol broker to
represent our brands in approximately twenty iraBamal markets. We use Terra and other bondedheases and logistic providers to handle
the billing, inventory and shipping for us for sopr@ducts in certain of our non-U.S. markets.

As in the U.S., the beverage alcohol industry hraeugone consolidation internationally, with coesable realignment of brands and
brand ownership. The number of major spirits congmimternationally has been reduced significadtig to mergers and brand ownership
consolidation. While there are still a substantiainber of companies owning one or more brands, mgshess is now done by the eight majo
companies, each of which owns and operates itsdistribution company that distributes in the majgernational markets. These captive
distribution companies focus primarily on the brsuwoflthe companies that own them.

Even though we do not utilize the direct route tarket in our international operations, we do ndielve that we are at a significant
disadvantage, because the local importers/disttbuypically have established relationships wiith tetail accounts and are able to provide
extensive customer service, in store merchandesmigon premise promotions. Also, even though wet carspensate our wholesalers and
distributors in each market in which we sell owairids, we are, as a result of using these distrigustill able to benefit from substantially
lower infrastructure costs and centralized billargl collection.

Our primary international markets are Ireland, G&yéain, Northern Ireland, Germany, Canada, Isf8algaria, France, Finland, Norwz
Sweden, Denmark, China and the Duty Free marketsa6 have sales in other countries in contindfuabpe, Latin America, the Caribbean
and Asia. For fiscal 2015, non-U.S. sales represeapproximately 13.8% of our revenues. See note bér accompanying consolidated
financial statements.




Significant customers

Sales to one distributor, Southern Wine and Sparii related entities, accounted for approxima2ély % of our consolidated revenues
fiscal 2015.

Our sales team

While we currently expect more rapid growth in thé., our primary market, international marketsdhpbtential for future growth and are
part of our global strategy.

We currently have a total sales force of 20 peaptdyding six regional U.S. vice presidents withaverage of over 17 years of industry
experience with premium beverage alcohol brands.

Our sales personnel are engaged in the day-to-daagement of our distributors, which includes sgttjuotas, coordinating promotional
plans for our brands, maintaining adequate levieddamk, brand education and training and salds wath distributor personnel. Our sales te
also maintains relationships with key retail custosithrough independent sales calls. They alsadstd@romotional events, create local bran
promotion plans, host in-store tastings where pigéechiand provide wait staff and bartender trairang education for our brands.

Advertising, marketing and promotion

To build our brands, we must effectively commurgoaith three distinct audiences: our distributting, retail trade and the end consumer.
Advertising, marketing and promotional activitiedfhto establish and reinforce the image of ounéisain our efforts to build substantial brand
value. We believe our execution of disciplined atrdtegic branding and marketing campaigns wilticore to drive our future sales.

We employ full-time, in-house marketing, sales andtomer service personnel who work together vhiittd tparty design and advertising
firms to maintain a high degree of focus on eacburfproduct categories and build brand awaremgssigh innovative marketing activities.
We use a range of marketing strategies and tactiosild brand equity and increase sales, includimgsumer and trade advertising, price
promotions, point-of-sale materials, event sportgprsn-store and on-premise promotions and puleliations, as well as a variety of other
traditional and non-traditional marketing technigi@cluding social media marketing, to support lo@nds.

Besides traditional advertising, we also emplogéhother marketing methods to support our brangdiqrelations, event sponsorships
and tastings. Our significant U.S. public relatieff®rts have helped gain editorial coverage farlmands, which increases brand awareness.
Event sponsorship is an economical way for us te iafluential consumers taste our brands. We algtivontribute product to trend-setting
events where our brand has exclusivity in the bi@tdgory. We also conduct hundreds of in-storecamgdremise promotions each year.

We support our brand marketing efforts with an gssent of point-of-sale materials. The combinatidrirade and consumer programs,
supported by attractive point-of-sale materialspa@stablishes greater credibility for us with distributors and retailers.

Strategic brand-partner relationships

We forge strategic relationships with emerging asthblished spirits brand owners seeking opporésnit increase their sales beyond
their home markets and achieve global growth. @bibty is a key component of our growth strategg @ne of our competitive strengths. Our
original relationship with the Boru vodka brand veasits exclusive U.S. distributor. To date, weéhalso established strategic relationships fc
Gosling’s rums, Pallini liqueurs, Celtic Honey laur, Tierras tequilas and Gozio amaretto, as destthelow, and we intend to seek to expan
our brand portfolio through similar future arrangats.

Gosling-Castle Partners Inc./Gosling’s rums and gjer beer

In 2005, we entered into an exclusive nationakihgtion agreement with Gosling’s Export for thesBing’s rum products. We
subsequently purchased a 60% controlling intere&tdsling-Castle Partners Inc., a strategic expamture with the Gosling family. Gosling's
Export holds the exclusive distribution rights f&osling’s rum and related products on a worldwidsi® (other than in Bermuda), through
Gosling-Castle Partners, and assigned to Goslirgjl€CRartners all of Gosling’s Export’s interespur January 2005 U.S. distribution
agreement with them. The export agreement expirépril 2020, subject to a 15 year extension itaier case sale targets are met. Under the
export agreement, Gosling-Castle Partners is giyergitled to a share of the proceeds from tHe,saever, of the ownership of any of the
Gosling’s brands to a third-party, through a sdlthe stock of Gosling’s Export or its parent, wilte size of such share depending upon the
number of case sales made during the twelve maméteding the sale. Also, prior to selling the owgh® of any of their brands that are
subject to these agreements, Gosling’s Export fimssioffer such brand to Gosling-Castle Partnerd then to us. The Goslings, through
Gosling’s Brothers Limited, have the right to astthe sole supplier to Gosling-Castle Partnere@orGosling’s rum requirements.

Pallini SpA/Pallini liqueurs

We have a long-term, exclusive marketing and distion agreement with Pallini under which we disaite Pallini Limoncello, Peachcello
and Raspicello liqueurs in the U.S. We began shipphiese products in September 2005.






Our agreement with Pallini expires on March 31,&Glbject to successive five-year renewals urditker party delivers a notice of non-
renewal six months prior to the end of the termdélithe agreement, if minimum volume targets ateanbieved and not cured, Pallini has the
right to terminate the agreement without paymerieohination fees to us. However, if such targeg¢smaet, we have the right under the
agreement to receive certain termination paymemdsother payments upon the non-renewal of the aggat certain terminations of the
agreement or the sale of the brand. The exclusiviédry under the agreement is the 50 stateseotitls. and the District of Columbia.

Autentica Tequilera S.A. de C.V./Tierras tequil

In February 2008, we entered into an importatioth marketing agreement with Autentica Tequilera SI&AC.V., under which we became
the exclusive U.S. importer of Tierras. In Febru2®l 3, the agreement renewed for an additionalyféas in accordance with its terms. Du
the term, we have the right to purchase tequitdiptilated prices. Autentica Tequilera must mamtartain standards for its products, and we
have input into the product and packaging. We eqeired to prepare periodic reports detailing tbeetbpment of the brand’s sales. Under thi
agreement, we have rights of first refusal for aaw market for Tierras (except Mexico), and any Aawentica Tequilera products in any
market (except Mexico). We also have a right dftfiefusal on any sale of the Tierras brand, amgha to acquire up to 35% of the economic
benefit of any such sale with a third-party baspdruthe achievement of certain cumulative salegetar

Gozio amaretto

In November 2011, we entered into an exclusiveitigion agreement with Distillerie FranciacortaaS3mder which we are the exclusive
distributor of Gozio amaretto in the U.S. The agreat has a five-year term, with automatic fixear renewals based upon sales targets. D
the term, we have the right to purchase Gozio attwaat stipulated prices and Distillerie Francidaddpa must maintain certain standards for
its products. We are required to prepare pericehorts detailing the development of the brand’esahd prepare annual strategic marketing
and growth plans.

Intellectual property

Trademarks are an important aspect of our busivéessell our products under a number of trademavkgh we own or use under
license. Our brands are protected by trademarktragjions or are the subject of pending applicatiion trademark registration in the U.S., the
European Community and most other countries whereigtribute, or plan to distribute, our brandse Ttademarks may be registered in the
names of our subsidiaries and related companiase@hy, the term of a trademark registration v@fiem country to country, and, in the U.
trademark registrations need to be renewed evarydars. We expect to register our trademarks ditiadal markets as we expand our
distribution territories.

We have entered into distribution agreements fantds owned by third parties, such as the Goslingiss, the Pallini liqueurs, Tierras
tequilas and Gozio amaretto. The Gosling’s rum tisaRallini liqueurs and Gozio amaretto are reggstdy their respective owners and we
have the exclusive right to distribute the Gosléngims on a worldwide basis (other than in Bermuauda) the Pallini liqueur brands and Gozio
amaretto in the U.S. Gosling’s also has a traderfrartheir signature rum cocktail, Dark ‘n Stornfyjutentica Tequiliera holds the registered
U.S. trademark for Tequila Tierras Autenticas disda and its distinctive label. See “Strategicriatgartner relationships.”

Seasonality

Our industry is subject to seasonality with peahkitesales generally occurring in the fourth cakenguarter (our third fiscal quarter)
primarily due to seasonal holiday buying. Histoltigathis holiday demand typically resulted in $lity higher sales for us in our second and/or
third fiscal quarters. However, the growth of Gogls rums in recent years has led to improved fofiscal quarter revenues.

Competition

The beverage alcohol industry is highly competithiée believe that we compete on the basis of guadiice, brand recognition and
distribution strength. Our premium brands competh ather alcoholic and nonalcoholic beveragesforsumer purchases, retail shelf space,
restaurant presence and wholesaler attention. \W@ete with numerous multinational producers anttiigors of beverage alcohol products,
many of which have greater resources than us.

Over the past ten years, the U.S. wine and sjiidtsstry has undergone dramatic consolidation aatignment of brands and brand
ownership. The number of major importers in the.l&s declined significantly. Today there are eighjor companies: Diageo PLC, Pernod
Ricard S.A., Bacardi Limited, Brown-Forman Corpaat Beam Suntory Inc., Davide Campari Milano-S.pRemy Cointreau S.A. and
LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A.

We believe that we are sometimes in a better jposit partner with small to mid-size brands thanrttajor importers. Despite our relative
capital position and resources, we have been allerhpete with these larger companies in pursujegey distribution agreements and
acquiring brands by being more responsive to piaaid family-owned brands, offering flexible tractgan structures and providing brand
owners the option to retain local production andrfle” market sales. Given our size relative to oajomcompetitors, most of which have
multi-billion dollar operations, we believe that wan provide greater focus on smaller brands atat teansaction structures based on
individual brand owner preferences. However, olatiee capital position and resources may limit marketing capabilities, limit our ability
expand into new markets and limit our negotiatibijty with our distributors.






By focusing on the premium and super-premium sed¢sna&fithe market, which typically have higher masgiand having an established,
experienced sales force, we believe we are algaitorelatively significant attention from our dibutors for a company of our size. Our U.S.
regional vice presidents, who average over 17 yafarsdustry experience, provide long-standing tieteships with distributor personnel and
with their major customers. Finally, the continwehsolidation among the major companies is expecotedeate an opportunity for small to
mid-size wine and spirits companies, such as ouesehs the major companies contract their poodid focus on fewer brands.

Government regulation

We are subject to the jurisdiction of the Fedenalohol Administration Act, U.S. Customs Laws, Imtal Revenue Code of 1986, and the
Alcoholic Beverage Control Laws of all fifty states

The U.S. Treasury Department’s Alcohol and Tobakaw and Trade Bureau regulates the productionditen bottling, sales and
advertising and transportation of alcohol produstso, each state regulates the advertising, premptransportation, sale and distribution of
alcohol products within its jurisdiction. We ars@lrequired to conduct business in the U.S. ontls wdlders of licenses to import, warehouse,
transport, distribute and sell spirits.

In Europe, we are subject to similar regulationates to the production of spirits.

We are subject to U.S. and European regulatiortb@advertising, marketing and sale of beveragehalc These regulations range from a
complete prohibition of the marketing of alcohokiome countries to restrictions on the advertisigte, media and messages used.

Labeling of spirits is also regulated in many m#skearying from health warning labels to impoitintification, alcohol strength and
other consumer information. All beverage alcohaldurcts sold in the U.S. must include warning stet@srelated to risks of drinking
beverage alcohol products.

We are also subject to certain regulatory requirgseegarding minimum aging of spirits.

In the U.S. control states, the state liquor comsiaiss act in place of distributors and decide wipbducts are to be purchased and off
for sale in their respective states. Products elexted for purchase and sale through listing mhoaees which are generally made available to
new products only at periodically scheduled listimggrviews. Consumers may purchase products mettee for listings only through special
orders, if at all.

The distribution of alcohol-based beverages is sildgject to extensive federal and state taxatiadherl).S. and internationally. Most
foreign countries in which we do business imposgsexduties on wines and distilled spirits, altHotige form of such taxation varies from a
simple application on units of alcohol by volumerttyicate systems based on the imported or whidesdue of the product. Several countries
impose additional import duty on distilled spiritdten discriminating between categories in the mitsuch tariffs. Import and excise duties
may have a significant effect on our sales, botbugh reducing the consumption of alcohol and thhoencouraging consumer switching into
lower-taxed categories of alcohol.

We believe that we are in material compliance \&jpplicable federal, state and other regulationsvél@r, we operate in a highly
regulated industry which may be subject to moriegént interpretations of existing regulations.ufatcompliance costs due to regulatory
changes could be significant.

Since we import distilled spirits products produgeiinarily outside the U.S., adverse effects olutatpry changes are more likely to
materially affect earnings and our competitive netigosition rather than capital expenditures. Gapitpenditures in our industry are normi
associated with either production facilities orr@tacquisition costs. Because we are not a U.8lugey, changes in regulations affecting
production facility operations may indirectly affébe costs of the brands we purchase for resatey® would not anticipate any resulting
material adverse impact upon our capital expengstur

Global conglomerates with international brands dwte our industry. The adoption of more restrictiv@rketing and sales regulations or
increased excise taxes and customs duties couketialbt adversely affect our earnings and compatithdustry position. Large international
conglomerates have greater financial resourceswviieatho and would be better able to absorb increegeypliance costs.

Employees
As of March 31, 2015, we had 51 full-time employe¥xof which were in sales and marketing and 1®tdiEh were in management,

finance and administration. We had 45 full-time émgpes as of March 31, 2014. As of March 31, 2@B50f our employees were located in
the U.S. and three were located in Ireland.
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Geographic Information

We operate in one business — premium beveragealodhr product categories are rum and relatedymisg whiskey, liqueurs, vodka
and tequila. We report our operations in two gephi@al areas: International and U.S. See note béit@accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Corporate Information

We are a Florida corporation, which was incorpatane2009. We are the successor to a Delaware catipn, which was incorporated in
Delaware in 2003.

Available Information

Our corporate filings, including our annual repantsForm 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10sQx, current reports on Form 8-K, our
proxy statements and reports filed by our officard directors under Section 16(a) of the ExchangeaAd any amendments to those filings,
are available, free of charge, on our investor wepkttp://investor.castlebrandsinc.coms soon as reasonably practicable after we or our
officers and directors electronically file or fushisuch material with the SEC. You may also findamde of business conduct, nominating anc
corporate governance committee charter and auditritiee charter on our website. We do not intemdrfformation contained in our website,
or those of our subsidiaries, to be a part of d@imisual report on Form 1R- Shareholders may request paper copies of thlesgsfand corporai
governance documents, without charge, by writtguest to Castle Brands Inc., 122 East 42nd Stte 900, New York, NY 10168, Attn:
Investor Relations.

Also, you may read and copy any materials we fid the SEC at the SEE€Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE., Wigsbi, DC
20549, on official business days during the hofirkOoa.m. to 3 p.m. You may obtain information be tperation of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The &&@itains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov} tantains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information rdgpay issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Relating To Our Business
We have never been profitable, and believe we wibntinue to incur net losses for the foreseeabletfure.

We have incurred losses since our inception, inotyd net loss of $3.8 million for fiscal 2015, amad an accumulated loss of $143.4
million as of March 31, 2015. We believe that wdl dntinue to incur net losses as we expect togva@intinued significant investment in
product development and sales and marketing amatto significant administrative expenses as wé segrow our brands. We also anticipate
that our cash needs will exceed our income frorassfr the near future. Some of our products magmachieve widespread market
acceptance and may not generate sales and poofitstify our investment. Also, we may find thatr@xpansion plans are more costly than we
anticipate and that they do not ultimately resulkdmmensurate increases in our sales, which wattlger increase our losses. We expect we
will continue to experience losses and negativé flasv, some of which could be significant. Resudfperations will depend upon numerous
factors, some of which are beyond our control,udrlg market acceptance of our products, new pitadtroductions and competition. We
incur substantial operating expenses at the compégael, including costs directly related to beargSEC reporting company.

Recent worldwide and domestic economic trends andhfincial market conditions could adversely impact ar financial performance.

The worldwide and domestic economies have expezdadverse conditions and may be subject to fudbtrioration for the foreseeable
future. We are subject to risks associated witkdhadverse conditions, including economic slowdawah the disruption, volatility and
tightening of credit and capital markets.

This global economic situation could adversely iotpgaur major suppliers, distributors and retailditse inability of suppliers, distributors
or retailers to conduct business or to accessdityucould impact our ability to distribute our phacts.

There can be no assurance that market conditidhsnpirove in the near future. A prolonged downtufiurther worsening or broadening
of the adverse conditions in the worldwide and dstineeconomies could affect consumer spending qpetiend purchases of our products, ant
create or exacerbate credit issues, cash flowsszoe other financial hardships for us and forsuppliers, distributors, retailers and
consumers. Depending upon their severity and durathese conditions could have a material advierpact on our business, liquidity,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may require additional capital, which we may notbe able to obtain on acceptable terms, or at allOur inability to raise such capital,
as needed, on beneficial terms or at all could ra$tt our future growth and severely limit our operations.
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We have limited capital compared to other compaimesir industry. This may limit our operationsdagrowth, including our ability to
continue to develop existing brands, service obit dbligations, maintain adequate inventory levielad potential acquisitions of new brands,
penetrate new markets, attract new customers aediato new distribution relationships. If we hawat generated sufficient cash from
operations to finance additional capital needsyilleneed to raise additional funds through privateublic equity and/or debt financing. We
cannot assure you that, if and when needed, addltfimancing will be available to us on acceptablens or at all. If additional capital is
needed and either unavailable or cost prohibitive,operations and growth may be limited as we mesmd to change our business strategy to
slow the rate of, or eliminate, our expansion oluee or curtail our operations. Also, any additidimancing we undertake could impose
covenants upon us that restrict our operating fiétgi, and, if we issue equity securities to ragsgital our existing shareholders may
experience dilution and the new securities may hies, preferences and privileges senior to thudsmir common stock.

If our brands do not achieve more widespread consuen acceptance, our growth may be limited.

Most of our brands are early in their growth cyatel have not achieved extensive brand recognititse, brands we may acquire in the
future are unlikely to have established extensiamd recognition. Accordingly, if consumers do actept our brands, we will not be able to
penetrate our markets and our growth may be limited

We depend on a limited number of suppliers. Failurdo obtain satisfactory performance from our suppléers or loss of our existing
suppliers could cause us to lose sales, incur addital costs and lose credibility in the marketplaceWe also have annual purchase
obligations with certain suppliers.

We depend on a limited number of third-party sugrglifor the sourcing of all of our products, inéhgiboth our own proprietary brands
and those we distribute for others. These supptiensist of third-party distillers, bottlers ansbgucers in the U.S., Bermuda, the Caribbean,
Australia and Europe. We rely on the owners of (Bg& rum, Pallini liqueurs, Gozio amaretto andrfas tequila to produce their brands for
us. For our proprietary products, we may rely @ingle supplier to fulfill one or all of the manataring functions for a brand. For instance,
Cargill is the sole producer for Boru vodka; IDLtle sole provider of our single malt, blended grain Irish whiskeys; Gaelic Heritage
Corporation Limited is the sole producer of ourti@dioney Irish liqueur; Terra Limited is not ortlye sole producer of our Brady’s Irish
Cream liqueur but also the only bottler of ourhnshiskeys; and Polar is the sole producer of casli@g’s Stormy Ginger Beer. We do not
have long-term written agreements with all of aypiers. We do not currently have a long-term sedor supply of aged bourbon or rye and
there can be no assurance we can source adequatietarof aged bourbon or rye at satisfactory priceat all. Also, if we fail to complete
purchases of products ordered annually, certaipl®ip have the right to bill us for product norghuased during the period. The terminatiol
our written or oral agreements or an adverse chamtie terms of these agreements could have aimeg@pact on our business. If our
suppliers increase their prices, we may not hategradtive sources of supply and may not be abfeise the prices of our products to cover all
or even a portion of the increased costs. Alsosappliers’ failure to perform satisfactorily orrttie increased orders, delays in shipments of
products from suppliers or the loss of our exissngpliers, especially our key suppliers, couldseaus to fail to meet orders for our products,
lose sales, incur additional costs and/or expoge psoduct quality issues. In turn, this couldsmus to lose credibility in the marketplace and
damage our relationships with distributors, ultiehaieading to a decline in our business and resflbperations. If we are not able to
renegotiate these contracts on acceptable terfirsdosuitable alternatives, our business could égatively impacted.

We depend on our independent wholesale distributor® distribute our products. The failure or inability of even a few of our
distributors to adequately distribute our products within their territories could harm our sales and result in a decline in our results of
operations.

We are required by law to use state licensed Higtis or, in 17 states known as “control statsgte-owned agencies performing this
function, to sell our products to retail outlets;luding liquor stores, bars, restaurants and natichains in the U.S. We have established
relationships for our brands with wholesale disttilys in each state; however, failure to maintaosé relationships could significantly and
adversely affect our business, sales and growtkr @e past decade there has been increasing matgwi, both intrastate and interstate,
among distributors. As a result, many states nove lwaly two or three significant distributors. Algbere are several distributors that now
control distribution for several states. For theedil year ended March 31, 2015, sales to onelulisdri accounted for 29.7% of revenues. As a
result, if we fail to maintain good relations wahdistributor, our products could in some instarimfrozen out of one or more markets enti
The ultimate success of our products also depenldsge part on our distributors’ ability and destio distribute our products to our desired
U.S. target markets, as we rely significantly oenthfor product placement and retail store penemaiiVe have no formal distribution
agreements or minimum sales requirements with &owyiodistributors and they are under no obligatmplace our products or market our
brands. Moreover, all of them also distribute cotitiye brands and product lines. We cannot assatetlyat our U.S. alcohol distributors will
continue to purchase our products, commit sufficiene and resources to promote and market ourdsrand product lines or that they can or
will sell them to our desired or targeted markHtthey do not, our sales will be harmed, resuliim@ decline in our results of operations.

While most of our international markets do not liegithe use of independent distributors by law haee chosen to conduct our sales
through distributors in all of our markets and,@dingly, we face similar risks to those set fatiove with respect to our international
distribution. Some of these international markegs/iave only a limited number of viable distribgtor

If we are unable to identify and successfully acqué additional brands that are complementary to ourexisting portfolio, our growth
could be limited, and, even if additional brands ag acquired, we may not realize planned benefits due integration difficulties or other
operating issues.
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A component of our growth strategy is the acquisiof additional brands that are complementaryutoexisting portfolio through
acquisitions of such brands or their corporate awjrdirectly or through mergers, joint venturesigderm exclusive distribution arrangements
and/or other strategic relationships. If we areblméo identify suitable brand candidates and ss&fcdly execute our acquisition strategy, our
growth could be limited. Also, even if we are swgsfal in acquiring additional brands, we may notibke to achieve or maintain profitability
levels that justify our investment in, or realizeecating and economic efficiencies or other planmemefits with respect to, those additional
brands. The addition of new products or businesaggls numerous risks with respect to integratind other operating issues, any of which
could have a detrimental effect on our resultsperations and/or the value of our equity. Thedesrisclude:

« difficulties in assimilating acquired operationspsoducts;

e unanticipated costs that could materially adversaffigct our results of operatior

« negative effects on reported results of operatimoma acquisition related charges and amortizatioacguired intangibles
< diversion of manageme’s attention from other business conce

« adverse effects on existing business relationshigissuppliers, distributors and retail customi

« risks of entering new markets or markets in whiehhave limited prior experience; a

« the potential inability to retain and motivate kayployees of acquired business

Also, there are special risks associated with tugigition of additional brands through joint verg@rrangements. We may not have a
majority interest in, or control of, future joinertures in which we may enter. There is, therefiask,that our joint venture partners may at any
time have economic, business or legal interesgmals that are inconsistent with our interestsaaigjor those of the joint venture. There is
risk that our current or future joint venture parmmay be unable to meet their economic or othkgations and that we may be required to
fulfill those obligations alone.

Our ability to grow through the acquisition of afilolial brands will also be dependent upon the alsdity of capital to complete the
necessary acquisition arrangements. We intenchéméie our brand acquisitions through a combinaitfayur available cash resources, third -
party financing and, in appropriate circumstantes further issuance of equity and/or debt seas;ithowever, our ability to finance such
acquisitions may be limited by the terms of oureotbquity and/or debt securities. Acquiring additibbrands could have a significant effec
our financial position, and could cause substafitiatuations in our quarterly and yearly operatiegults. Also, acquisitions could result in the
recording of significant goodwill and intangiblesass on our financial statements, the amortizaiidmpairment of which would reduce
reported earnings in subsequent years.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and devaluatios may have a significant adverse effect on our remees, sales, costs of goods and
overall financial results.

For fiscal 2015, non-U.S. operations accountedfiproximately 13.8% of our revenues. Thereforapgand losses on the conversion of
foreign payments into U.S. dollars could causetélations in our results of operations, and fluéhgaexchange rates could cause reduced
revenues and/or gross margins from non-U.S. ddiésmeminated international sales and inventory mseb. Also, for fiscal 2015, Euro
denominated sales accounted for approximately @fl8tir total revenue, so a substantial changeandte of exchange between the U.S.
dollar and the Euro could have a significant advefect on our financial results. Our ability twgaire spirits and produce and sell our
products at favorable prices will also depend irt pa the relative strength of the U.S. dollar. Wéenot currently hedge against these risks.

We must maintain a relatively large inventory of ou products to support customer delivery requiremens, and if this inventory is lost
due to theft, fire or other damage or becomes obsatk, our results of operations would be negativeiypacted.

We must maintain relatively large inventories toetneustomer delivery requirements for our produdis.are always at risk of loss of that
inventory due to theft, fire or other damage, ang such loss, whether insured against or not, coale us to fail to meet our orders and hart
our sales and operating results. Also, our invgnteay become obsolete as we introduce new prodeedse to produce old products or mo
the design of our products’ packaging, which wdualttease our operating losses and negatively impactesults of operations.

Either our or our strategic partners’ failure to pr otect our respective intellectual property rights ould compromise our competitive
position and decrease the value of our brand portim.

Our business and prospects depend in part on odryvidh respect to our agency or joint venture dsarour strategic partners’, ability to
develop favorable consumer recognition of our bsaawtd trademarks. Although both we and our strategitners actively apply for
intellectual property registrations of our brandsl &rademarks, they could be imitated in ways Wetannot prevent. Also, we rely on trade
secrets and proprietary know-how, concepts andutasn We cannot be certain that the steps takprotect these intellectual property rights
will be sufficient to protect these rights. Our imess could be adversely affected by the materfehgement of such intellectual property
rights. We are also subject to risks and costscéesteal with the enforcement of our and our partrietsllectual property rights. Moreover, we
may face claims of misappropriation or infringemehthird partiesrights that could interfere with our use of thifoimation. Defending thes
claims may be costly and, if unsuccessful, may gméus from continuing to use this proprietary infation in the future and result in a
judgment or monetary damages being levied agamsfMe do not maintain n-competition agreements with all of our key persaror with
some of our key suppliers. If competitors indepertigedevelop or otherwise obtain access to oururrstrategic partners’ trade secrets,
proprietary know-how or recipes, the appeal, andg the value, of our brand portfolio could be restijmegatively impacting our financial
results and ability to develop our business.

A failure of one or more of our key information tednology systems, networks, processes, associatedssor service providers, including



as a result of evolving cyber security and other tdnological risks, could have a material adverse ipact on our business
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We rely on information technology (IT) systems,watks, and services, including internet sites, daisting and processing facilities and
tools, hardware (including laptops and mobile desj¢software and technical applications and plat$o some of which are managed, hosted,
provided and/or used by third-parties or their vasdto assist us in the management of our busii@ssvarious uses of these IT systems,
networks, and services include, but are not limitedhosting our internal network and communicasgatems; ordering and managing
materials from suppliers; supply/demand plannimggpction; shipping product to customers; hostinglwranded websites and marketing
products to consumers; collecting and storing eusto consumer, employee, investor, and other gabgessing transactions; summarizing
reporting results of operations; hosting, procegsamd sharing confidential and proprietary redgarasiness plans, and financial information;
complying with regulatory, legal or tax requiremgmiroviding data security; and handling other peses necessary to manage our business

Increased IT security threats and more sophisticagber crime pose a potential risk to the secwiftyur IT systems, networks, and
services, as well as the confidentiality, avail@iland integrity of our data. If the IT systemgtworks, or service providers we rely upon fail
to function properly, or if we suffer a loss orad@sure of business or other sensitive informatihrg to any number of causes, ranging from
catastrophic events to power outages to secur@gdbres, and our business continuity plans do fexttefely address these failures on a timely
basis, we may suffer interruptions in our abiltymanage operations and reputational, competitidéoa business harm, which may adversely
affect our business operations and/or financiatdan. In addition, such events could result imuthorized disclosure of material confidential
information, and we may suffer financial and refiotzal damage because of lost or misappropriataefidential information belonging to us
to our partners, our employees, customers, sugpieconsumers. In any of these events, we costdla required to spend significant
financial and other resources to remedy the daroagsed by a security breach or to repair or replat@orks and IT systems. The trend
toward public notifications of such incidents coelhcerbate the harm to our business operatiofiisamcial condition.

Our failure to attract or retain key executive or enployee talent could adversely affect our business.

Our success depends upon the efforts and abititiesr senior management team, other key employeeka high-quality employee base,
as well as our ability to attract, motivate, rewaadd retain them. We do not maintain and do rtenith to obtain key man insurance on the life
of any executive or employee. Difficulties in higior retaining key executive or employee talentherunexpected loss of experienced
employees could have an adverse impact on ourdssimerformance. In addition, we could experienrsgniess disruption and/or increased
costs related to organizational changes, reduction®rkforce, or other cost-cutting measures.

The sales of our products could decrease significtiy if we cannot maintain listings in the control dates.

In the control states, the state liquor commissamtsn place of distributors and decide which piid are to be purchased and offered for
sale in their respective states. Products seldotdisting must generally reach certain volumed/an profit levels to maintain their listings.
Products are selected for purchase and sale thil@tigig procedures which are generally made akbglto new products only at periodically
scheduled listing interviews. Products not selefbedistings can only be purchased by consumetbérapplicable control state through spe
orders, if at all. If, in the future, we are unatdemaintain our current listings in the contraltss, or secure and maintain listings in thosestat
for any additional products we may acquire, safemuo products could decrease significantly.

An impairment in the carrying value of goodwill or other acquired intangible assets could negativelyffect our operating results and
shareholders’ equity.

The carrying value of goodwill represents the failue of acquired businesses in excess of ideblifiassets and liabilities as of the
acquisition date, net of any cumulative impairmemtge carrying value of other intangible assetsasgnts the fair value of trademarks, trade
names and other acquired intangible assets ag afcjuisition date, net of impairments and accutedlamortization. Goodwill and other
acquired intangible assets expected to contrilmdefinitely to our cash flows are not amortized;, tust be evaluated for impairment by our
management at least annually. If carrying valuaeegls current fair value as determined based odigleeunted future cash flows of the relatec
business, the intangible asset is considered imgaind is reduced to fair value via a non-cashgehtar earnings. If the value of goodwill or
other acquired intangible assets is impaired, aumiags and shareholders’ equity could be adversédted.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Demand for our products may be adversely affectedyomany factors, including changes in consumer prefences and trends.
Consumer preferences may shift due to a variefgaibrs including changes in demographic and sti@alds, public health initiatives,

product innovations, changes in vacation or leiswtévity patterns and a downturn in economic ctiods, which may reduce consumers’

willingness to purchase distilled spirits or caashift in consumer preferences toward beer, win@a-alcoholic beverages. Our success

depends in part on fulfilling available opportuegito meet consumer needs and anticipating chamgessumer preferences with successful
new products and product innovations.
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Our business performance is substantially dependenipon the continued growth of rum and whiskey sales

A significant part of our business is based on and whiskey sales. Changes in consumer prefereaegasding these categories of
beverage alcohol products may have an adverse effiemur sales and financial condition. Given th@artance of our rum and whiskey bra
to our overall Company success, a significant stasoed decline in volume or selling price of thpseducts would likely have a negative
effect on our growth and our stock price. Additityiashould we not be successful in our effortgrtaintain and increase the relevance of the
brands in the minds of today’s and tomorrow’s consy our business and operating results could isuffe

We face substantial competition in our industry andmany factors may prevent us from competing succefssly.

We compete on the basis of product taste and guhbliand image, price, service and ability to inai@vin response to consumer
preferences. The global spirits industry is higtdynpetitive and is dominated by several large,-fuglded international companies. It is
possible that our competitors may either resporiddaostry conditions or consumer trends more rgpdleffectively or resort to price
competition to sustain market share, which coulceaskly affect our sales and profitability.

Adverse public opinion about alcohol could reduce emand for our products.

Anti-alcohol groups have, in the past, advocatextassfully for more stringent labeling requiremehtgher taxes and other regulations
designed to discourage alcohol consumption. Mastictive regulations, negative publicity regardaigohol consumption and/or changes in
consumer perceptions of the relative healthfullmessafety of beverage alcohol could decrease sal@sonsumption of alcohol and thus the
demand for our products. This could, in turn, digaintly decrease both our revenues and our revgraweth, causing a decline in our result
operations.

Class action or other litigation relating to alcohd abuse or the misuse of alcohol could adverselyfa€t our business.

Our industry faces the possibility of class actiorsimilar litigation alleging that the continuexicessive use or abuse of beverage alcohol
has caused death or serious health problemsaldaspossible that governments could assert tieatdk of alcohol has significantly increased
government funded health care costs. Litigatioassertions of this type have adversely affectedpemnies in the tobacco industry, and it is
possible that we, as well as our suppliers, coalddmed in litigation of this type.

Also, lawsuits have been brought in a number déstalleging that beverage alcohol manufacturedsaarketers have improperly targe
underage consumers in their advertising. Plaintififhiese cases allege that the defendants’ adearéints, marketing and promotions violate
the consumer protection or deceptive trade practtatutes in each of these states and seek repaghthe family funds expended by the
underage consumers. While we have not been nantbhdse lawsuits, we could be named in similar latgsa the future. Any class action or
other litigation asserted against us could be esiperand time-consuming to defend against, degjetir cash and diverting our personnel
resources and, if the plaintiffs in such actionseate prevail, our business could be harmed sicanifily.

Regulatory decisions and legal, regulatory and taghanges could limit our business activities, increse our operating costs and reduce
our margins.

Our business is subject to extensive regulatialiof the countries in which we operate. This nragtude regulations regarding
production, distribution, marketing, advertisingldabeling of beverage alcohol products. We areired to comply with these regulations and
to maintain various permits and licenses. We ae @dquired to conduct business only with holdét&enses to import, warehouse, transport
distribute and sell beverage alcohol products. Wfeot assure you that these and other governnregtalations applicable to our industry v
not change or become more stringent. Moreover,usecthese laws and regulations are subject tqimtition, we may not be able to predict
when and to what extent liability may arise. Adalitélly, due to increasing public concern over atdaklated societal problems, including
driving while intoxicated, underage drinking, alotiem and health consequences from the abuse @f@llcvarious levels of government may
seek to impose additional restrictions or limitsamivertising or other marketing activities promgtheverage alcohol products. Failure to
comply with any of the current or future regulasamnd requirements relating to our industry andipets could result in monetary penalties,
suspension or even revocation of our licenses amifs. Costs of compliance with changes in regaatcould be significant and could harm
our business, as we could find it necessary te@ mis prices in order to maintain profit marginsjeh could lower the demand for our prodt
and reduce our sales and profit potential.

Also, the distribution of beverage alcohol produstsubject to extensive taxation both in the @&l internationally (and, in the U.S., at
both the federal and state government levels) bawerage alcohol products themselves are the dudfjeational import and excise duties in
most countries around the world. An increase imtiax or in import or excise duties could also #igantly harm our sales revenue and
margins, both through the reduction of overall eonption and by encouraging consumers to switcbwei-taxed categories of beverage
alcohol.

We could face product liability or other related liabilities that increase our costs of operations andarm our reputation.

Although we maintain liability insurance and wittempt to limit contractually our liability for daages arising from our products, these
measures may not be sufficient for us to succdgsiubid or limit liability. Our product liabilityinsurance coverage is limited to $1.0 million
per occurrence and $2.0 million in the aggregateam general liability umbrella policy is cappedbd0.0 million. Further, any contractual
indemnification and insurance coverage we have fpanties supplying our products is limited, as acfical matter, to the creditworthiness



the indemnifying party and the insured limits ofansurance provided by these suppliers. In anygextensive product liability claims
could be costly to defend and/or costly to resalwd could harm our reputation.
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Contamination of our products and/or counterfeit or confusingly similar products could harm the imageand integrity of, or decrease
customer support for, our brands and decrease ourades.

The success of our brands depends upon the positage that consumers have of them. Contaminatibether arising accidentally or
through deliberate third-party action, or otherra@sehat harm the integrity or consumer supporbfarbrands, could affect the demand for our
products. Contaminants in raw materials purchased third parties and used in the production of mnaiducts or defects in the distillation and
fermentation processes could lead to low beveragéty as well as illness among, or injury to, comers of our products and could result in
reduced sales of the affected brand or all of candls. Also, to the extent that third parties pediducts that are either counterfeit versions of
our brands or brands that look like our brandssaarers of our brands could confuse our products mprivducts that they consider inferior.
This could cause them to refrain from purchasingtwands in the future and in turn could impair brand equity and adversely affect our
sales and operations.

Risks Relating to Owning Our Stock

We may not be able to maintain our listing on the NSE MKT, which may limit the ability of our shareholders to sell their common
stock.

If we do not meet the NYSE MKT continued listingteria, we may be delisted and trading of our comrstmck could be conducted in 1
OTC Bulletin Board or the interdealer quotationteyss of the OTC Markets Group Inc. In such castaseholder likely would find it more
difficult to trade our common stock or to obtairta@te market quotations for it. If our common &tcdelisted, it will become subject to the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s “penny statdsy” which impose sales practice requirementsroker-dealers that sell that common
stock to persons other than established customersagcredited investors.” Application of this rdeuld make broker-dealers unable or
unwilling to sell our common stock and limit theilap of shareholders to sell their common stockhie secondary market.

Our executive officers, directors and principal shaeholders own a substantial percentage of our votmstock, which allows them to
significantly influence matters requiring shareholcer approval. They could make business decisions fois that cause our stock price to
decline.

As of June 12, 2015, our executive officers, dmeztnd principal shareholders beneficially ownggraximately 44% of our common
stock, including options that are exercisable witsd days of the date of this annual report andrassy full exercise of such options and
conversion of our 5% October 2013 Convertible nbidd by such persons. As a result, if they acbincert, they could significantly influence
matters requiring approval by our shareholderduding the election of directors, and could hawe dbility to prevent or cause a corporate
transaction, even if other shareholders oppose actitn. This concentration of voting power coulsbehave the effect of delaying, deterring,
or preventing a change of control or other busimessbination, which could cause our stock pricdeoline.

Provisions in our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Florida law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us,
discourage a takeover and adversely affect existirghareholders.

Our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and theridla Business Corporation Act contain provisitimst may have the effect of making
more difficult, delaying, or deterring attemptsdityers to obtain control of our company, even wihese attempts may be in the best interest
of our shareholders. These include provisions imgithe shareholders’ powers to remove directots. dbticles of incorporation also authorize
our board of directors, without shareholder apprkdeaissue one or more series of preferred statich could have voting and conversion
rights that adversely affect or dilute the votirayyer of the holders of our common stock. Florida Eso imposes conditions on certain
"affiliated transactions” with “interested sharethers.”

These provisions and others that could be adopt#tkifuture could deter unsolicited takeoverseadayl or prevent changes in our control
or management, including transactions in whichetalders might otherwise receive a premium forrteleares over then current market pri
These provisions may also limit the ability of #aolders to approve transactions that they may dedia in their best interests.

Negative publicity could affect our stock price ancbusiness performance.

Unfavorable media related to our industry, compdmgnds, marketing, personnel, operations, busipesrmance, or prospects could
negatively affect our corporate reputation, stogkey ability to attract high quality talent, andtbe performance of our business, regardless c
its accuracy or inaccuracy. Adverse publicity ogaie/e commentary on social media outlets couldeaionsumers to avoid our brands and/o
choose brands offered by our competitors, whichccoagatively affect our financial results.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties

Our executive offices are located in New York, Nihere we lease approximately 4,800 square feeffioE@space under a lease that
expires in April 2016. We also lease approxima#@ square feet of office space in Dublin, Irelander a lease that expires in October 201¢€
and approximately 1,700 square feet of office spad¢douston, TX under a lease that expires in R018.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We believe that neither we nor any of our whollyr@d subsidiaries is currently subject to litigatinich, in the opinion of our
management, is likely to have a material adverxebn us.

We may, however, become involved in litigation fréime to time relating to claims arising in the io@ty course of our business. These
claims, even if not meritorious, could result ie #xpenditure of significant financial and managjeesources.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edjy Securities
Price range of common stock

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT under meiml “ROX.” The following table sets forth the higind low sales prices for our
common stock for the periods specified.

Fiscal 2015 High Low

First Quarter (April 3— June 30, 2014 $ 141 % 0.7¢
Second Quarter (July— September 30, 201 $ 132 % 0.8(C
Third Quarter (October — December 31, 201 $ 20 % 1.2C
Fourth Quarter (January— March 31, 2015 $ 1.7C $ 1.1t
Fiscal 2014

First Quarter (April 3— June 30, 2012 $ 04z $ 0.27
Second Quarter (July— September 30, 201 $ 09¢ $ 0.3(C
Third Quarter (October — December 31, 201 $ 1.1C $ 0.6¢
Fourth Quarter (January— March 31, 2014 $ 158 % 0.71

Holders

At June 9, 2015, there were approximately 200 abotders of our common stock.
Dividend policy

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends itafi2015 or 2014 and we do not intend to pay ash cividends with respect to our
common stock in the foreseeable future. We cuiyenténd to retain any earnings for use in the apen of our business and to fund future
growth. Any future determination to pay cash divids will be at our board’s discretion and will degaipon our financial condition, operating
results, capital requirements and such other faesmour board deems relevant. Further, our abditieclare and pay cash dividends is
restricted by certain covenants in our loan agregsne

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information at Margh, 2015 regarding compensation plans under wiiclequity securities are authoriz
for issuance.

17




Number of

securities
to be issued Number of
upon securities
exercise of remaining
outstanding  Weighted-average available
options, exercise price of for future
warrants, outstanding issuance

restricted options, warrants, under equity
stock and restricted stock anc compensatior

Plan category rights rights plans

Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 12,108,18 $ 0.6t 7,221,00!

Equity compensation plans not approved by sechatgers - - -
Total 12,108,18 $ 0.6t 7,221,00i

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

We are transitioning from a smaller reporting compas defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Actamedhot required to provide
the information required under this item.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Our objective is to continue building Castle Bramts a profitable international spirits companythaa distinctive portfolio of
premium and super premium spirits brands. To aehikis, we continue to seek to:

« focus on our more profitable brands and markeWe continue to focus our distribution efforts, sadxpertise and targeted
marketing activities on our more profitable braadsl markets

« grow organically.We believe that continued organic growth will erabs to achieve long-term profitability. We focus o
brands that have profitable growth potential aagisg power, such as our rums and whiskies, sdledich have grown
approximately 46% over the past two fiscal ye

o build consumer awarenesWe use our existing assets, expertise and resotordesld consumer awareness and market
penetration for our brand

« leverage our distribution networkOur established distribution network in all 50 Usgtes enables us to promote our brands
nationally and makes us an attractive strategithpafor smaller companies seeking U.S. distribytand

« selectively add new brand extensions and brandsuoportfolio. We intend to continue to introduce new brand exterss
and expressions. For example, we have leveragesuoaessful Jefferson’s portfolio by introducinguanber of brand
extensions. We continue to explore strategic m@istiips, joint ventures and acquisitions to seletiexpand our premium
spirits portfolio. We expect that future acquisitsoor agency relations, if any, would involve saznenbination of cash, debt
and the issuance of our sto

Recent developments

Common stock equity distribution agreement

In November 2014, we entered into an Equity Disttitn Agreement (the "2014 Distribution Agreementf)h Barrington Research
Associates, Inc. ("Barrington"”), as sales agendennvhich we may issue and sell over time and ftiome to time, to or through Barrington,
shares (the "Shares") of our common stock, $0.0¥g@ae per share ("Common Stock") having a gratsssprice of up to $10.0 million.

Sales of the Shares pursuant to the 2014 Distdbutgreement may be effected by any method penthiityelaw deemed to be an "at-the-
market" offering as defined in Rule 415 of the Si#ims Act of 1933, as amended, including withautifation directly on the NYSE MKT LL(
or any other existing trading market for the Comrsoock or through a market maker, up to the amepaetified, and otherwise to or through
Barrington in accordance with the placement notamisrered by the Company to Barrington. Also, witlr prior consent, some or all of the
Shares issued pursuant to the 2014 Distributioredigient may be sold in privately negotiated transiast

Between November 20, 2014 and June 11, 2015, wieapproximately 1.9 million Shares of Common Stanker the 2014 Distribution
Agreement for gross proceeds of approximately $8lflon, before deducting sales agent and offeergenses of approximately $0.1 million.
We used a portion of the proceeds to finance orgstment in Copperhead Distillery Company as wefioa general corporate purposes.

Investment in Copperhead Distillery Comp:

In June 2015, we purchased approximately 20% ofp€dpead Distillery Company (“Copperheaéy $0.5 million. Copperhead owns a
operates the Kentucky Artisan Distillery. The invesnt is part of a wide-reaching agreement to baifdew warehouse to store Jefferson’s
bourbons, provide distilling capabilities using sipémasl-bills made from locally grown grains, and creatdsitor center and store to enhau



the consumer experience for the Jefferson’s brand.

Our investment will be used for the constructiomafew warehouse in Crestwood, Kentucky dedicatetligively to Jefferson’s. The
warehouse will have the capacity to store up t0@Q®@parrels, with room for expansion, and will faate the continued growth of Jefferson’s
wood finishes and barrel-aged cocktails.

A Jefferson’s visitor center, including a tastimpm and store, which will showcase the Jeffersdmand is expected to open in the sun
of 2015.

Operations overview

We generate revenue through the sale of our predaciur network of wholesale distributors or, @mtrol states, state-operated agencies
which, in turn, distribute our products to retailtlets. In the U.S., our sales price per case dediexcise tax and import duties, which are also
reflected as a corresponding increase in our dosdles. Most of our international sales are soidotnd”, with the excise taxes paid by our
customers upon shipment, thereby resulting in lowktive revenue as well as a lower relative obstles, although some of our United
Kingdom sales are sold “tax paid”, as in the U.Be Tifference between sales and net sales prihcigdlects adjustments for various
distributor incentives.

Our gross profit is determined by the prices atolhie sell our products, our ability to control @ast of sales, the relative mix of our ¢
sales by brand and geography and the impact agforrency fluctuations. Our cost of sales isipipally driven by our cost of procurement,
bottling and packaging, which differs by brandwagl as freight and warehousing costs. We purckasain products, such as Gosling’s rums
and ginger beer, Pallini liqueurs, Gozio amarettod @ierras tequila, as finished goods. For othedpcts, such as Jefferson’s bourbons, we
purchase the components, including the distillédtspbottles and packaging materials, and havengements with third parties for bottling
and packaging. Our U.S. sales typically have adrigiibsolute gross margin than in other marketsakes prices per case are generally high
the U.S.

Selling expense principally includes advertising amarketing expenditures and compensation paiditonarketing and sales personnel.
Our selling expense, as a percentage of salesanthpe, is higher than that of our competitorabse of our brand development costs, lev
marketing expenditures and established sales fansus our relatively small base of case salesaled volumes. However, we believe that
maintaining an infrastructure capable of supporfirigre growth is the correct long-term approaahus.

While we expect the absolute level of selling exgeeto increase in the coming years, we expechgedkpense as a percentage of reve
and on a per case basis to decline, as our volerpemnd and our sales team sells a larger numbeaotis.
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General and administrative expense relates to capand administrative functions that supportaperations and includes administrative
payroll, occupancy and related expenses and piofedservices. We expect general and administaikpense in fiscal 2016 to be higher
than fiscal 2015 due to costs associated with mius as an accelerated filer. However, we exp@cgieneral and administrative expense as a
percentage of sales to decline due to economissabé.

We expect to increase our case sales in the UdSnternationally over the next several years tgroarganic growth, and through the
introduction of product line extensions, acquisiiand distribution agreements. We will seek tontaém liquidity and manage our working
capital and overall capital resources during tleisqa of anticipated growth to achieve our longriebjectives, although there is no assurance
that we will be able to do so.

We continue to believe the following industry trendill create growth opportunities for us, incluglin

. the divestiture of smaller and emerging -core brands by major spirits companies as theyimoato consolidate

. increased barriers to entry, particularly ia th.S., due to continued consolidation and theadiltfy in establishing an
extensive distribution network, such as the onenaétain; anc

. the trend by small private and family-ownedigpibrand owners to partner with, or be acquirgdabcompany with global

distribution. We expect to be an attractive altéweato our larger competitors for these brand awrses one of the few
modestl-sized publicl-traded spirits companie

Our growth strategy is based upon partnering wiitieiobrands, acquiring smaller and emerging brandisgrowing existing brands. To
identify potential partner and acquisition candigatve plan to rely on our management’s industryeggpce and our extensive network of
industry contacts. We also plan to maintain andvgpar U.S. and international distribution chanrsgghat we are more attractive to spirits
companies who are looking for a route to marketfieir products. We expect to compete for foreigd small private and familgwned spirit
brands by offering flexible and creative structusgich present an alternative to the larger spa@dmpanies.

We intend to finance any future brand acquisititmisugh a combination of our available cash resrthird party financing and, in
appropriate circumstances, the further issuanegoity and/or debt securities. Acquiring additionednds could have a significant effect on
our financial position, and could cause substafitiatuations in our quarterly and yearly operatiegults. Also, the pursuit of acquisitions and
other new business relationships may require sggmit management attention. We may not be abladoessfully identify attractive
acquisition candidates, obtain financing on favteabrms or complete these types of transactiomastimely manner and on terms acceptab
us, if at all.

Financial performance overview

The following table provides information regardiogr spirits case sales for the periods presentseldoan nine-liter equivalent cases,
which is a standard spirits industry metric (tadéeludes related non-alcoholic beverage products):

Year ended March 31,

2015 2014

Cases
United State: 310,10¢ 307,58«
International 82,63: 81,79(

Total 392,73 389,37-
Rum 171,18¢ 166,93¢
Vodka 46,347 55,14¢
Liqueur 89,36 91,83:
Whiskey 84,71 70,59:
Tequila 1,10¢ 1,152
Wine — 3,70¢
Other spirits 14 4

Total 392,73 389,37-
Percentage of Cases
United State: 79.(% 79.(%
International 21.(% 21.(%

Total 100.(% 100.(%
Rum 43.6% 42.%

Vodka 11.8% 14.2%



Liqueur
Whiskey
Tequila
Wine

Other spirits

Total
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22.1% 23.6%
21.6% 18.1%
0.2% 0.2%
—% 1.C%
0.C% 0.C%
100.(% 100.(%




The following table provides information regardiogr case sales of related non-alcoholic beverag@ugts, which primarily consists of
Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer, for the periods pnésd:

Year ended March 31,

2015 2014
Cases
United State: 682,19( 403,19!
International 33,23: 26,32:¢
Total 715,42, 429,51
United State! 95.4% 93.%%
International 4.6% 6.1%
Total 100.(% 100.(%

Critical accounting policies and estimates

A number of estimates and assumptions affect quorted amounts of assets and liabilities, amouihssiles and expenses and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities in our finahstatements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluase #stimates and assumptions based on
historical experience and other factors and cir¢antes. We believe our estimates and assumptiemeasonable under the circumstances;
however, actual results may differ from these estas.

We believe that the estimates and assumptionsstiedbelow are most important to the portrayalofiimancial condition and results of
operations in that they require our most difficalipjective or complex judgments and form the bfasithe accounting policies deemed to be
most critical to our operations.

Revenue recognitiol

We recognize revenue from product sales when theéugt is shipped to a customer (generally a distoit), title and risk of loss has pas
to the customer under the terms of sale (FOB shigppoint or FOB destination) and collection is mrably assured. We do not offer a right of
return but will accept returns if we shipped th@mg product or wrong quantity. Revenue is not reczey on shipments to control states in the
U.S. until such time as the product is sold throt@the retail channel.

Accounts receivabli

We record trade accounts receivable at net reddizabue. This value includes an appropriate allveesfor estimated uncollectible
accounts to reflect any loss anticipated on thaet@ccounts receivable balances and charged sdldiweance for doubtful accounts. We
calculate this allowance based on our history dgtfeasffs, level of past due accounts based on actuel terms of the receivables and our
relationships with, and economic status of, outamuers.

Inventory valuation

Our inventory, which consists of distilled spiritmn-beverage alcohol products, dry good raw nete¢bottles, cans, labels and caps),
packaging and finished goods, is valued at the l@feost or market, using the weighted average¢ mashod. We assess the valuation of our
inventories and reduce the carrying value of thiogentories that are obsolete or in excess of owgdasted usage to their estimated realizable
value. We estimate the net realizable value of snabntories based on analyses and assumptionslingl, but not limited to, historical usage,
future demand and market requirements. Reductidimet@arrying value of inventories is recordedastmf goods sold.
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Goodwill and other intangible assets

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, we recorded $0.5anibf goodwill that arose from acquisitions. Gadlli represents the excess of
purchase price and related costs over the valugreskto the net tangible and identifiable intatgifissets of businesses acquired. Intangible
assets with indefinite lives consist primarily @fhts, trademarks, trade names and formulationsaeequired to analyze our goodwill and
other intangible assets with indefinite lives farpairment on an annual basis as well as when eaadtsircumstances indicate that an
impairment may have occurred. Certain factors tey occur and indicate that an impairment exigtkigke, but are not limited to, operating
results that are lower than expected and advedsssiry or market economic trends. We evaluateghewverability of goodwill and indefinite
lived intangible assets using a twtep impairment test approach at the reportinglendl. In the first step the fair value for the@oeting unit is
compared to its book value including goodwill.Hetfair value of the reporting unit is less thaa blmok value, a second step is performed
which compares the implied fair value of the repgrunit’s goodwill to the book value of the goodiwThe fair value for the goodwill is
determined based on the difference between thedhies of the reporting units and the net faiuealof the identifiable assets and liabilitie:
such reporting units. If the fair value of the gadtis less than the book value, the differencesisognized as an impairment.

The fair value of each reporting unit was determiateach of March 31, 2015 and 2014 by weightingrabination of the present value
our discounted anticipated future operating cashvsland values based on market multiples of revandezarnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA") of comphla companies. We did not record any impairmenga@odwill or other intangible assets
for fiscal 2015 or 2014.

Intangible assets with estimable useful lives aneréized over their respective estimated usef@dito the estimated residual values and
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamgescumstances indicate that the carrying valas mot be recoverable. We are required
to amortize intangible assets with estimable udefes over their respective estimated useful liteethe estimated residual values and to re
intangible assets with estimable useful lives fopairment in accordance with the Financial Accoumttandards Board (“FASBAccounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 310, “Accounting ftire Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets.”

Stoclk-based awards

We follow current authoritative guidance regardatgck-based compensation, which requires all shased payments, including grants of
stock options, to be recognized in the income state as an operating expense, based on theirdies on the grant date. Stock-based
compensation was $0.8 million and $0.4 millionfiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively. We used thelBfcholes option-pricing model to
estimate the fair value of options granted. Themggions used in valuing the options granted dufisal 2015 and 2014 are included in note
12 to our consolidated financial statements.
Fair value of financial instruments

ASC 825, “Financial Instruments”, defines the faafue of a financial instrument as the amount atiwthe instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between wiiagies and requires disclosure of the fair valueeotain financial instruments. We believe
that there is no material difference between tireviue and the reported amounts of financialrimsents in the balance sheets due to the
short-term maturity of these instruments, or wibpect to the debt, as compared to the currentworg rates available to us.
Results of operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the percentage of net sales of certairsit@mur consolidated financial statements

Year ended March 31,

2015 2014
Sales, ne 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sale: 62.(% 63.(%
Provision for obsolete inventory 0.5% 0.4%
Gross profit 37.5% 36.6%
Selling expens 26.5% 26.(%
General and administrative expel 11.5% 11.5%
Depreciation and amortization 1.6% 1.8%
Loss from operations (1.9% (2.7)%
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliatt 0.C% (1.0%
Foreign exchange lo: (0.00% (0.6)%
Interest expense, n (2.0% (2.2%
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili 0.C% (11.29%

Income tax (expense) benefit, net (2.2% 1.2%




Net loss
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere

Net loss attributable to controlling intere
Dividend to preferred shareholders

Net loss attributable to common shareholc
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(6.)% (16.5)%
(0.6)% (1.9)%
(6.7)% (18.9%
0.0% (0.8)%
(6.7)% (19.9%




The following is a reconciliation of net loss attitable to common shareholders to EBITDA, as adflist

Year ended March 31,

2015 2014
Net loss attributable to common shareholc $ (3,799,74) $ (9,291,34)
Adjustments
Interest expense, n 1,129,04 1,062,21!
Income tax expense (benefit), | 1,278,99 (590,41
Depreciation and amortization 907,54( 860,25:
EBITDA loss (484,15 (7,959,28)
Allowance for doubtful accoun 236,00( 403,04
Allowance for obsolete inventol 281,00( 200,00t
Stoclk-based compensation expel 787,71( 393,91
Other income, ne (16,60:) —
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliatt — 502,51¢
Foreign exchange lo: 4,56¢ 284,96.
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili — 5,392,59.
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere 325,82¢ 935,03!
Dividend to preferred shareholders — 384,59¢
EBITDA, as adjusted 1,134,34! 537,38:

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation amattzation, or EBITDA, adjusted for allowances fmubtful accounts and obsolete
inventory, stock-based compensation expense, otbeme, net, loss from equity investment in nonsmidated affiliate, foreign exchange
loss, net change in fair value of warrant liabjligt income attributable to noncontrolling intésesnd dividend to preferred shareholders is a
key metric we use in evaluating our financial parfance. EBITDA, as adjusted, is considered a no#financial measure as defined by
Regulation G promulgated by the SEC under the S&s1Act of 1933, as amended. We consider EBITB#adjusted, important in evaluat
our performance on a consistent basis across apetiods. Due to the significance of non-cashraordrecurring items, EBITDA, as adjustt
enables our Board of Directors and management tatoraand evaluate the business on a consisterg. Ve use EBITDA, as adjusted, as a
primary measure, among others, to analyze and &eafinancial and strategic planning decisions ngigg future operating investments and
allocation of capital resources. We believe thalTHEB\, as adjusted, eliminates items that are ndiciative of our core operating performance
or are based on management’s estimates, sucloasmatie accounts, are due to changes in valuatich, &s the effects of changes in foreign
exchange or fair value of warrant liability, or dot involve a cash outlay, such as stock-based eosgtion expense. Our presentation of
EBITDA, as adjusted, should not be construed asfenence that our future results will be unaffeldbsy unusual or non-recurring items or by
non-cash items, such as stock-based compensatiich 8 expected to remain a key element in oug{@nm incentive compensation progri

EBITDA, as adjusted, should be considered in &midib, rather than as a substitute for, incomenfaperations, net income and cash flows
from operating activities.

Our EBITDA, as adjusted, improved to $1.1 milliar the year ended March 31, 2015, as compared.forillion for the prior year,
primarily as a result of our increased sales andgprofit.

Fiscal 2015 compared with fiscal 2014

Net salesNet sales increased 19.4% to $57.5 million forytkar ended March 31, 2015, as compared to $48libmibr the prior year,
due to the overall growth of our Gosling's Stormpger Beer, Jefferson's and Jefferson’s Reservebbasg, Clontarf Irish whiskey and Pallini
liqueurs. Our international spirits case sales psraentage of total spirits case sales were 2f00%ach of the years ended March 31, 201t
2014. Our overall spirits sales volume for fiscall2 was negatively impacted by the cessation essail Hasse Apple Pie Liqueurs and wines,
as well as our inability to source supply for Jeféa’s Rye in the current year, all of which wedsil fiscal 2014 but did not sell in fiscal 2015.
Sales volume was also negatively impacted by Isaérs volume of vodka and destocking of Goslingias at the wholesale level. These
shortfalls were partially offset by increases itesaf our Jefferson’s, Jefferson’s Reserve anigikzfn’s Ocean Aged at Sea bourbons and ou
Irish whiskey portfolio. Also, fiscal 2015 salesair Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer increased by 288 cases, or 66.7%, overall, including a
279,231 case increase, or 69.4%, in U.S. case aslesmpared to fiscal 2014. We anticipate contirgrewth of Gosling’s Stormy Ginger
Beer in the near term as compared to comparalde-ypear periods, although there is no assurandenthavill attain such results. We continue
to focus on our faster growing brands and markets in the U.S. and internationally.
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The table below presents the increase or decraasgplicable, in case sales by spirits produeigoay for the year ended March 31,
2015 as compared to the year ended March 31, 2014:

Increase/(decreas Percentag
in case sale increase/(decreas
Overall U.S. Overall U.S.
Rum 4,25( 2,23¢ 2.5% 1.£%
Whiskey 14,12: 11,30: 20.(% 26.2%
Liqueur (2,467) (2,400 (2.7% (2.7%
Vodka (8,79¢) (4,86%) (16.0% (10.9%
Tequila 47) (48) (4.)% (4.)%
Wine (3,709 (3,709 (100.0% (100.0%
Other Spirits 10 1C 233.% 233.%
Total 3,36¢ 2,52 0.€% 0.8%

The following table presents the increase in cases of related noalcoholic beverage products for the year ended Maig 2015 a
compared to the year ended March 31, 2014:

Increase Percentag
in case sale increase
Overall U.S. Overall U.S.
Related No-Alcoholic Beverage Produc 285,90 278,99! 66.6% 69.2%

Gross profit.Gross profit increased 22.5% to $21.6 million toe {year ended March 31, 2015 from $17.6 milliontfer prior year, and ol
gross margin increased to 37.5% for the year eifedh 31, 2015 compared to 36.6% for the prior y&he increase in gross profit was
primarily due to increased revenue in the curremioal, while the increase in gross margin was duentincrease in sales of our more profiti
brands, in particular the Jefferson’s bourbons@mdrish whiskey brands. During the year endeddilé81, 2015, we recorded a net allowanct
for obsolete and slow moving inventory of $0.3 il as compared to $0.2 million for the prior yaAle recorded these allowances on both
raw materials and finished goods, primarily in cection with label and packaging changes made taiodorands, as well as certain cost
variances. The net charges have been recordediasraase to cost of sales in each period. Nétoatlowance for obsolete inventory, our
gross margin for the year ended March 31, 20153843% as compared to 37.0% for the prior year.

Selling expense&elling expense increased 21.7% to $15.3 milliortfie year ended March 31, 2015 from $12.5 milfimrthe prior year,
primarily due to a $0.7 million increase in shippicosts, a $0.9 million increase in advertisingrkang and promotion expense related to the
timing of certain sales and marketing programg).2 #illion increase in commissions, associatedh witreased sales volume and a $0.9
million increase in employee costs. The increasslas resulted in selling expense as a percepfagst sales remaining relatively constant at
26.5% for the year ended March 31, 2015 as compar26é.0% for the prior year.

General and administrative expens8eneral and administrative expense increasedd®©36.5 million for the year ended March 31,
2015 from $5.5 million for the prior year, primarilue to a $0.3 million increase in each of prafesal fees, employee expense and non-cast
stockbased compensation expense, and a $0.1 millioraserin insurance expense. The increase in saldteckin general and administrat
expense as a percentage of net sales remaininiyelaconstant at 11.3% for the year ended Marth2®15 as compared to 11.5% for the
prior year. However, as a result of our becomingegelerated filer, we expect general and admatisé expense to increase due to the costs
and fees associated with the additional regulatequirements.

Depreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortization was $0.9 million éach of the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014.

Loss from operationsAs a result of the foregoing, loss from operagianproved to ($1.1) million for the year ended btaB1, 2015 from
($1.3) million for the prior year. As a result afrdfocus on our stronger growth markets and beteiorming brands, and expected growth
from our existing brands, we anticipate improvesutes of operations in the near term as comparednaparable prior-year periods, although
there is no assurance that we will attain suchltesu

Net change in fair value of warrant liability¥e recorded the fair market value of the warrasgsed in connection with our June 2011
private placement (the “2011 Warrantat)their initial fair value. Changes in the failue of the 2011 Warrants were recognized in eamfag
each reporting period. In November 2013, in accocdavith certain terms of the 2011 Warrants, therdoound provisions included in the
terms of the warrant ceased to be in effect dukeddistorical VWAP and trading volume of our Commigtock. As a result, the then
outstanding warrant liability of $6.2 million waBreinated and recognized as an increase to additipaid-in capital. In April 2014, we called
for cancellation all remaining 1.7 million unexesed 2011 Warrants pursuant to their terms aftésfgaig applicable conditions. Pursuant to
the call for cancellation, holders of all 1.7 nahi unexercised 2011 Warrants exercised such waraaat received 1.7 million shares of
Common Stock. We received $0.6 million in cash uttenexercise of these 2011 Warrants. As a resul2011 Warrants were outstanding as
of March 31, 2015. Accordingly, we no longer reciagrany changes in fair value of the 2011 Warrdres.the year ended March 31, 2014,
recorded a non-cash charge for loss on the chanihpe ivalue of the warrants of ($5.4) million, pairity due to the effects of our increased
share price on the Bla-Scholes valuatior
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Income tax (expense) benefit, Hetome tax (expense) benefit, net is the estim@e@xpense attributable to the net taxable income
recorded by our 60% owned subsidiary, Gosling-@a#rtners Inc., adjusted for changes in the defdax asset and deferred tax liability
during the periods, and was net expense of ($1ilBpmfor the year ended March 31, 2015 as comp&oea benefit of $0.6 million for the
prior year.

Foreign exchange losBoreign exchange loss for the year ended MarcR@15 was de minimis as compared to a loss of ($0ipn for
the prior year due to the net effects of fluctuasiof the U.S. dollar against the Euro and its ichpa our Euro-denominated intercompany
balances due to our foreign subsidiaries for inmgnpurchases.

Interest expense, n&l/e had interest expense, net of ($1.1) milliongfach of the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014ochedances
outstanding under our credit facilities. Due toeoged borrowings under the Keltic Facility as defirbelow to support additional inventory
purchases and other working capital needs, we éxptecest expense, net to increase in the near asrcompared to prior-year periods.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interedt®t income attributable to noncontrolling interesisthe year ended March 31, 2015
was ($0.3) million as compared to ($0.9) milliom foe prior year, both the result of allocatedinebme recorded by our 60% owned
subsidiary, Gosling-Castle Partners Inc.

Dividend to preferred shareholdeBursuant to the mandatory conversion of our 10%vExible Series A Preferred Stock, in February
2014, all outstanding shares of Series A Prefestedk, and accrued dividends thereon, converted@ammon Stock. Accordingly, after
February 2014, we no longer recognize a dividengréderred shareholders. For the year ended MakcB@®L4, we recognized a dividend on
our Series A Preferred Stock of $0.4 million.

Net loss attributable to common shareholdérs a result of the net effects of the foregoingluding the non-cash charge for loss on the
net change in fair value of warrant liability arne tdividend accrual in the prior year, net losskattable to common shareholders improved to
($3.8) million for the year ended March 31, 201%aspared to a loss of ($9.3) million for the pryear. Net loss per common share, basic
diluted, was ($0.02) per share for the year endacttM31, 2015 as compared to ($0.08) per shathéqgprior year. Net loss per common sh
basic and diluted, as reported in the current pdvenefited from an increase in the weighted-awesigres outstanding in the year ended
March 31, 2015 as compared to the prior year.

Liquidity and capital resources
Overview

Since our inception, we have incurred significamemating and net losses and have not generatetivpasash flows from operations. For
the year ended March 31, 2015, we had a net 10$8.6fmillion, and used cash of $8.9 million in maiéng activities. As of March 31, 2015,
had cash and cash equivalents of $1.2 million attldn accumulated deficit of $143.4 million.

Existing Financing

In August 2011, we and our wholly-owned subsidi@gstle Brands (USA) Corp. entered into a loan ages with Keltic Financial
Partners Il, LP (“Keltic”), which, as amended, pd®s for availability (subject to certain terms ammhditions) of a facility of up to $12.0
million (the “Keltic Facility”) for the purpose gfroviding us with working capital and a term lodrup to $4.0 million to finance purchases of
aged whiskies (the “Bourbon Term LoanNo borrowings under the Bourbon Term Loan weretantiing as of the date of this report. We |
borrow up to an additional $1.5 million under theuBoon Term Loan subject to the terms and conditaescribed below.

In September 2014, we entered into an Amended asthRd Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan é&gient”) with ACF FinCo |
LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“ACF”), as sessor in interest to Keltic, pursuant to which Kedtic Facility was further amended to
modify certain aspects of the existing Keltic Fiagilincluding increasing the maximum amount of Kedtic Facility from $8.0 million to $12.
million and increasing the inventory sub-limit frddd.0 million to $6.0 million. In addition, the tarof the Keltic Facility was extended from
December 31, 2016 to July 31, 2019 (the "MaturigtdD). The monthly facility fee was reduced frofiRs per annum of the maximum Keltic
Facility amount to 0.75%. The Loan Agreement alsaliffied certain aspects of the EBITDA covenant thias contained in the previously
existing loan and security agreement, dated asuguiat 19, 2011, as amended. We paid ACF an ager&da0,000 amendment fee in
connection with the execution of the Loan Agreement
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We may borrow up to the maximum amount of the KEdicility, provided that we have a sufficient lmaving base (as defined in the L«
Agreement). The Keltic Facility interest rate ig flate that, when annualized, is the greatest)ahéPrime Rate plus 3.00%, (b) the LIBOR
Rate plus 5.50% and (c) 6.0%. The Bourbon Term lintanest rate is the rate that, when annualizetha greatest of (a) the Prime Rate plus
4.25%, (b) the LIBOR Rate plus 6.75% and (c) 7.50%erest is payable monthly in arrears, on th&t filay of every month on the average
daily unpaid principal amount of the Keltic Fagilind the Bourbon Term Loan. After the occurrenue during the continuance of any
"Default” or "Event of Default" (as defined undaetLoan Agreement) we are required to pay intexeatrate that is 3.25% per annum above
the then applicable Keltic Facility or Bourbon Tekiman, as applicable, interest rate. The Loan Ageyd contains EBITDA targets allowing
for further interest rate reductions in the futurbe Keltic Facility currently bears interest 80%. and the Bourbon Term Loan would currently
bear interest at 7.50%. We are required to pay dbemprincipal balance of the Bourbon Term Loarhimitl5 banking days from the
completion of a bottling run of bourbon from oundpleon inventory stock purchased on or about the diathe Bourbon Term Loan in an
amount equal to the purchase price of such bourblo@.unpaid principal balance of the Bourbon Temwan, all accrued and unpaid interest
thereon, and all fees, costs and expenses payabtmnection with the Bourbon Term Loan are duegayhble in full on the Maturity Date. In
addition to closing fees, ACF receives an annudlifia fee and a collateral management fee (eackea$orth in the Loan Agreement).

The Loan Agreement contains standard borrower sepitations and warranties for asset-based borroavidga number of reporting
obligations and affirmative and negative covenafit® Loan Agreement includes negative covenantsah@ong other things, restrict our
ability to create additional indebtedness, disprfggroperties, incur liens, and make distributiongash dividends. At March 31, 2015, we
were in compliance, in all material respects, wlith covenants under the Loan Agreement.

Keltic required as a condition to funding the Baamblrerm Loan that Keltic had entered into a pgrtition agreement providing for an
aggregate of $750,000 of the initial $2.5 millioingipal amount of the Bourbon Term Loan to be pased by junior participants. Certain
related parties of ours purchased a portion ofetl@sior participations in the Bourbon Term Loargluding Frost Gamma Investments Trust
($500,000), an entity affiliated with Phillip Fro#84.D., a director and principal shareholder ofsyiMark E. Andrews, Il ($50,000), a director
of ours and our Chairman, and an affiliate of Ridhh Lampen ($50,000), a director of ours andRresident and Chief Executive Officer.
Under the terms of the participation agreementjuhimr participants receive interest at the rdt&d® per annum. We are not a party to the
participation agreement. However, we are partyfeedetter with the junior participants (includitige related party junior participants)
pursuant to which we pay the junior participantsaggregate commitment fee of $45,000 paid in teopeal annual installments of $15,000.

In May 2015, the Bourbon Term Loan was paid in iiulhccordance with its standard terms in the nbooarse of business. We may
borrow up to an additional $1.5 million under theuBbon Term Loan subject to the identificationwifipr participants to purchase a portion of
such additional borrowings.

In August 2013, we entered into a Loan Agreemdm (Junior Loan Agreement"), by and between usthedending parties thereto (the
"Junior Lenders"), which provided for an aggredsite?5 million unsecured loan (the "Junior Loan"ut The Junior Loan bore interest at a
rate of 11% per annum, payable quarterly in arreansmencing November 1, 2013, and was set to matufectober 15, 2015. The Junior
Loan Agreement provided for a funding fee of 2% q@num on the then outstanding Junior Loan balgmerated for any period of less than
one year), payable pro rata among the Junior Lenalethe date of the Junior Loan Agreement andhefiitst and second anniversaries the
The Junior Lenders included Frost Gamma Investnibntst, Mark E. Andrews, Il and an affiliate ofdRiard J. Lampen. In September 2014,
in connection with the amendment and restatemetiteoKeltic Facility described above, we used pedisefrom the Keltic Facility to repay the
$1.25 million principal amount outstanding, andaaitrued but unpaid interest, to the Junior Lenders

In December 2009, Gosling-Castle Partners, In6Q% owned subsidiary, issued a promissory notheragygregate principal amount of
$0.2 million to Gosling's Export (Bermuda) Limitedexchange for credits issued on certain invenpomchases. This note matures on April 1
2020, is payable at maturity, subject to certairetaration events, and calls for annual intere&%6f to be accrued and paid at maturity.

We have arranged various credit facilities aggtiega€0.3 million or $0.3 million (translated at tMarch 31, 2015 exchange rate) with an
Irish bank, including overdraft coverage, creditamsurance, customs and excise guaranty, andawvieg credit facility. These facilities are
payable on demand, continue until terminated Hyeeiparty, are subject to annual review, and callrfterest at the lender’'s AA1 Rate minus
1.70%. We have deposited €0.3 million or $0.3 wil{translated at the March 31, 2015 exchange wath)the bank to secure these
borrowings. We are in compliance in all materiapects with the covenants of our Irish bank faesitas of March 31, 2015.

In October 2013, we entered into a 5% Convertibled®dinated Note Purchase Agreement (the "NotelRgic Agreement”), with the
purchasers party thereto (the "Purchasers"), whiokides for the issuance of an aggregate initiaicgpal amount of $2.1 million unsecured
subordinated notes (the "Convertible Notes"). Wedus portion of the proceeds to finance the adiprisof additional bourbon inventory in
support of the growth of our Jefferson's bourbaambdr

The Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate op&¥@annum and mature on December 15, 2018. Thedttilrle Notes and accrued but
unpaid interest thereon are convertible in wholagrart from time to time at the option of the dhes thereof into shares of our Common S
at a conversion price of $0.90 per share (the "@mion Price"). The Convertible Notes may be prépaiwhole or in part at any time without
penalty or premium, but with payment of accrueeériest to the date of prepayment. The Convertiblee®oontain customary events of default
which, if uncured, entitle each noteholder to aedk the due date of the unpaid principal amofjrgral all accrued and unpaid interest on
Convertible Notes. We issued the Convertible Note©ctober 31, 2013. The Purchasers included oertated parties of ours, including an
affiliate of Dr. Phillip Frost ($500,000), Mark Bndrews, 11l ($50,000), an affiliate of RichardLhmpen ($50,000), an affiliate of Glenn
Halpryn ($200,000), a director of ours, Dennis icf®100,000), a former director of ours, and VedBroup Ltd. ($200,000), a more than 5%
shareholder of ours, of which Richard Lampen ig@ecutive officer and Henry Beinstein, a directbouars, is a directol
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We may forcibly convert all or any part of the Cenible Notes and all accrued but unpaid intettesteon if (i) the average daily volume
of the Common Stock (as reported on the principaiket or exchange on which the Common Stock isdistr quoted for trading) exceeds
$50,000 per trading day and (ii) the volume weidtagerage price of the Common Stock for at leashtw(20) trading days during any thirty
(30) consecutive trading day period exceeds 250%#ethen-current Conversion Price. Any forced @van will be applied ratably to the
holders of all Convertible Notes issued pursuarthéoNote Purchase Agreement based on each hottleriscurrent note holdings.

In November 2014, we entered into the 2014 DistidruAgreement with Barrington as sales agent, umdéch we may issue and sell
over time and from time to time, to or through Bagton, Shares of our Common Stock having a grakes price of up to $10.0 million. The
2014 Distribution Agreement replaced the prior ggdistribution agreement entered into with Bartorgin November 2013 (together with the
2014 Distribution Agreement, the “Distribution Agraent”), under which we could offer and sell sharfesur Common Stock having a gross
sale price of up to $6.0 million.

Sales of the Shares pursuant to the 2014 Distdbutgreement may be effected by any method penhiityelaw deemed to be an "at-the-
market" offering as defined in Rule 415 of the S#ms Act of 1933, as amended, including withantifation directly on the NYSE MKT LL(
or any other existing trading market for the Comroock or through a market maker, up to the amepetified, and otherwise to or through
Barrington in accordance with the placement notasdarered by us to Barrington. Also, with our pramnsent, some of the Shares issued
pursuant to the 2014 Distribution Agreement magdid in privately negotiated transactions.

During the year ended March 31, 2015, we sold apprately 2.5 million Shares under the Distributidgreements resulting in gross
proceeds of approximately $3.3 million, before detihg sales agent and offering expenses of apprabeiiyn $0.2 million. Between April 1,
2015 and June 11, 2015, we sold an additional @l®mShares pursuant to the 2014 Distribution égment, resulting in gross proceeds of
approximately $1.0 million, before deducting sagent and offering expenses of approximately $tiiton. We intend to use a portion of
the proceeds to finance our investment in Copperbastillery Company and for general corporate josgs. As of June 11, 2015,
approximately $7.0 million million remained availatior issuance pursuant to the 2014 Distributigie®ment.

Liquidity Discussion

As of March 31, 2105, we had shareholders’ equit$21.1 million as compared to $19.9 million at Ma31, 2014. This increase is
primarily due to the net issuance of $3.1 millidrCemmon Stock under the Distribution Agreementd e exercise of $0.6 million of our
2011 Warrants, partially offset by our total compesive loss for the year ended March 31, 2015.

We had working capital of $25.7 million at March, 2015 as compared to $19.1 million at March 31,220 his increase is primarily due
to the current year net loss of $3.5 million, a2%nillion increase in inventory and a $1.7 millimerease in accounts receivable, partially of
by a $0.3 million decrease in deferred tax benaf0.1 million decrease in prepaid expenses ared @ombined $1.3 million increase in
accounts payable, accrued expenses and due tedr@latties.

As of March 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equitsatéf approximately $1.2 million as compared td®%8illion at March 31, 2014, wi
increases primarily attributable to the equity es$and debt incurred partially offset by the fumdad our operations and working capital needs
for the year ended March 31, 2015. At March 31,520de also had approximately $0.3 million of casstricted from withdrawal and held b
bank in Ireland as collateral for overdraft coveragreditors’ insurance, revolving credit and otlverking capital purposes.

The following may materially affect our liquiditwer the near-to-mid term:

continued significant levels of cash losses frorarapions;

our ability to obtain additional debt or equitydimcing should it be require

an increase in working capital requirements torfohigher levels of inventories and accounts vatxe;
our ability to maintain and improve our relatiorhivith our distributors and our routes to mar

our ability to procure raw materials at a favorgiliee to support our level of sale

potential acquisitions of additional brands; :

expansion into new markets and within existing ratghkn the U.S. and international

We continue to implement a plan to support the ghaef existing brands through sales and marketiitgatives that we expect will
generate cash flows from operations in the nextyfears. As part of this plan, we seek to grow awgiiiess through expansion to new markets
growth in existing markets and strengthened digtdbrelationships. As our brands continue to growr, working capital requirements will
increase. In particular, the growth of our Jeffatsdrands requires a significant amount of workiagital relative to our other brands, as we
are required to purchase and hold ever increasimayats of aged bulk bourbon to meet growing dem¥viule we are seeking solutions to «
long-term bourbon supply needs, we are requirguitohase and hold several years’ worth of bulk bonrin inventory until such time as it is
aged to our specific brand taste profiles, incregasiur working capital requirements and negativelgacting cash flows.

We are also seeking additional brands and agetatyareships to leverage our existing distributidatform. We intend to finance our
brand acquisitions through a combination of ourilaisée cash resources, borrowings and, in apprapd@cumstances, additional issuances of
equity and/or debt securities. Acquiring additiobednds could have a significant effect on ourritial position, could materially reduce our
liquidity and could cause substantial fluctuatiomsur quarterly and yearly operating results. Wetmue to look to control expenses, seek
improvements in routes to market and contain pridoucosts to improve cash flows.



As of March 31, 2015, we had borrowed $10.1 milladrthe $12.0 million available under the Kelticchiy, leaving $1.9 million in then
potential availability for working capital needss Af the date of this report, we had borrowed $Tillion of the $12.0 million available under
the Keltic Facility, leaving $4.3 million in poteat availability for working capital needs. We lmle our current cash and working capital, the
availability under the Keltic Facility, and the pa®ds that have been raised, and additional funls taised, under the Distribution
Agreements, will enable us to fund our losses untilachieve profitability, ensure continuity of glypof our brands, and support new brand

initiatives and marketing programs through at ldastch 2016.
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Cash flows
The following table summarizes our primary souraeg uses of cash during the periods presented:

Year ended March 31,
2015 2014
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activitie! $ (8,852 $ (5,820)
Investing activities (495) (20¢)
Financing activities 9,62 6,49
Effect of foreign currency translation 3 3
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 282 % 46¢

Operating activitiesA substantial portion of available cash has beeu ts fund our operating activities. In generagsth cash funding
requirements are based on operating losses, dthiefly by the costs in maintaining our distribuitisystem and our sales and marketing
activities. We have also utilized cash to fund iowentories. In general, these cash outlays foerteries are only partially offset by increases
in our accounts payable to our suppliers.

On average, the production cycle for our owned dsds up to three months from the time we obtaéndistilled spirits and other materials
needed to bottle and package our products tonewe receive products available for sale, in gaet to the international nature of our
business. We do not produce Gosling’s rums or gibger, Pallini liqueurs, Tierras tequila, or Goamaretto. Instead, we receive the finished
product directly from the owners of such brandenfthe time we have products available for saleditional two to three months may be
required before we sell our inventory and colleyment from customers. Further, our inventory atd1881, 2015 included significant
additional stores of bulk bourbon purchased in adeaf forecasted production requirements. We expeeduce the bulk bourbon in the
normal course of future sales, generating posiash flows in future periods.

During the year ended March 31, 2015, net cash imseperating activities was $8.9 million, congistiprimarily of a $7.2 million increa:
in inventory, a net loss of $3.5 million, a $0.3lmn increase in other assets and a $1.7 millfmméase in accounts receivable. These uses of
cash were partially offset by a $1.3 million incsean accounts payable and accrued expenses, ailioh decrease in prepaid expenses,
stock based compensation expense of $0.8 milliepretiation and amortization expense of $0.9 nmjlep provision for obsolete inventories
$0.3 million and $0.3 million in deferred income &xpense, net.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, net cash imseperating activities was $5.8 million, consistiprimarily of a net loss of $8.0
million, a $2.0 million increase in accounts reedile, a $1.2 million increase in inventory, a $®iion decrease in accounts payable and
accrued expenses, a $0.6 million increase in pdepgenses, a $0.2 million increase in other assets$0.6 million in deferred tax benefit.
These uses of cash were partially offset by a ohamdpir value of warrant liability of $5.4 millig a $0.5 million loss on equity investment in
non-consolidated affiliate, stock-based compensatipense of $0.4 million, depreciation and amatiin expense of $0.9 million, and a
provision for obsolete inventories of $0.2 million.

Investing Activities.Net cash used in investing activities was $0.5iamilfor the year ended March 31, 2015, represerdtth§ million
used in the acquisition of fixed and intangibleetss

Net cash used in investing activities was $0.2iamilfor the year ended March 31, 2014, represerdtthd million used in the acquisition
fixed and intangible assets, partially offset by080million from a change in restricted cash.

Financing activities.Net cash provided by financing activities for theayended March 31, 2015 was $9.6 million, comgjstif $8.2
million in net proceeds from the Keltic Facility33 million in net proceeds from the issuance om@wn Stock under the Distribution
Agreements, $0.6 million in proceeds from the eiserof 2011 Warrants and $0.2 million in proceedsifthe exercise of stock options,
partially offset by the $1.25 million repaymenttbé Junior Loan and the $1.3 million paid on theifdon Term Loan.

Net cash provided by financing activities for theayended March 31, 2014 was $6.5 million, cormgstif $4.3 million in net proceeds
from the issuance of Common Stock under the Digtidin Agreement, $3.8 million in proceeds from &xercise of 2011 Warrants, $2.1
million from the issuance of 5% Convertible Not®%,25 million from issuance of the Junior Loan setfby the $4.5 million paid on the Keltic
Facility, $0.5 million paid on the Bourbon Term lroand $0.1 million paid on the foreign revolvingdit facilities.

27




Obligations and commitments
Irish bank facilities. For a discussion of our Irish Bank Facilities, gleaed=xisting Financingn “Liquidity and capital resources” above.
Keltic Facility. For a discussion of the Keltic Facility, please Beisting Financingn “Liquidity and capital resources” above.

Bourbon Term Loan.For a discussion of the Bourbon Term Loan, pleas&zisting Financingn “Liquidity and capital resources”
above.

5% Convertible Subordinated NoteSor a discussion of the 5% Convertible Subordinatetks, please séisting Financingn
“Liquidity and capital resources” above.

Gosling-Castle Partners notéor a discussion of the Gosling-Castle Partners,mdease seexisting Financingn “Liquidity and capital
resources” above.

Currency Translation

The functional currencies for our foreign operasiane the Euro in Ireland and the British PounthnUnited Kingdom. With respect to
our consolidated financial statements, the traimsidtom the applicable foreign currencies to WD8llars is performed for balance sheet
accounts using exchange rates in effect at thenbalsheet date and for revenue and expense acemimgsa weighted average exchange rate
during the period. The resulting translation adjuestts are recorded as a component of other conmigleencome.

Where in this annual report we refer to amountSuros or British Pounds, we have for your convetgeslso in certain cases provided a
conversion of those amounts to U.S. Dollars in preses. Where the numbers refer to a specifinbalgheet account date or financial
statement account period, we have used the exchiategthat was used to perform the conversionstimection with the applicable financial
statement. In all other instances, unless otheriniieated, the conversions have been made usegxthange rates as of March 31, 2015,
each as calculated from the Interbank exchange eateeported by Oanda.com. On March 31, 201%xtleange rate of the Euro and the
British Pound in exchange for U.S. Dollars was 810J.S.$1.08501 (equivalent to U.S.$1.00 = €0.22Hnd £1.00 = U.S.$1.48339
(equivalent to U.S.$1.00 = £0.67402).

These conversions should not be construed as epati®ns that the Euro and British Pound amouetisadly represent U.S. Dollar
amounts or could be converted into U.S. Dollathatrates indicated.

Impact of inflation

We believe that our results of operations are retenmlly impacted by moderate changes in thetioflarate. Inflation and changing pric
did not have a material impact on our operatiorrindufiscal 2015 or 2014. Severe increases infiafte however, could affect the global and
U.S. economies and could have an adverse impamtiobusiness, financial condition and results afrafions.

Recent accounting pronouncements

We discuss recently issued and adopted accourtangards in the “Accounting standards adopted”&wetent accounting
pronouncements” sections of note 1 of the “NoteSdasolidated Financial Statements” in the accoryipgnconsolidated financial statements.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemen$

This annual report includes certain “forward-loakistatements” within the meaning of the Privateu@iées Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements, which involve risks an@tainities, relate to the discussion of our busirsttegies and our expectations concernir
future operations, margins, profitability, liquigiand capital resources and to analyses and atfemation that are based on forecasts of fi

results and estimates of amounts not yet deterf@n®fe use words such as “may”, “will”, “should’g@Xpects”, “intends”, “plans”,
“anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “seeks”,rgglicts”, “could”, “projects”, “potential” and sirt@r terms and phrases, including references 1
assumptions, in this report to identify forward#omy statements. These forward-looking statememtsreade based on expectations and belie
concerning future events affecting us and are stubgeuncertainties, risks and factors relatingo operations and business environments, all
of which are difficult to predict and many of whiahe beyond our control, that could cause our &ctsalts to differ materially from those
matters expressed or implied by these forward-logpkitatements. These risks and other factors iadhukse listed under “Risk Factors” and as

follows:
 our history of losse;

« recent worldwide and domestic economic trends arah€ial market conditions could adversely impagtfinancial
performance
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our potential need for additional capital, whidmat available on acceptable terms or at all, dwaktrict our future growth
and severely limit our operatior

our brands could fail to achieve more widespreatsamer acceptance, which may limit our grov

our dependence on a limited number of suppliers, mhy not perform satisfactorily or may end thelationships with us,
which could result in lost sales, incurrence ofiaddal costs or lost credibility in the marketpéa

our annual purchase obligations with certain s@pg]

the failure of even a few of our independent whalleslistributors to adequately distribute our pridwvithin their territories
could harm our sales and result in a decline inresults of operation:

the potential limitation to our growth if we arealsie to identify and successfully acquire additldrands that are
complementary to our existing portfolio, or intelgrauch brands after acquisitio

currency exchange rate fluctuations and devaluatiay significantly adversely affect our revenwsades, costs of goods and
overall financial results

our need to maintain a relatively large inventofpor products to support customer delivery requiats, which could
negatively impact our operations if such inventisriost due to theft, fire or other dama

the possibility that we or our strategic partneil fail to protect our respective trademarks aratle secrets, which could
compromise our competitive position and decreaseséitue of our brand portfolit

the possibility that we cannot secure and mairisiimgs in control states, which could cause thlesof our products to
decrease significanth

an impairment in the carrying value of our goodwillother acquired intangible assets could negataféect our operating
results and sharehold’ equity;

changes in consumer preferences and trends couddsmlly affect demand for our produc

there is substantial competition in our industrg #me many factors that may prevent us from compgetuccessfully
adverse changes in public opinion about alcoholdcrrduce demand for our produc

class action or other litigation relating to alcbhususe or abuse could adversely affect our bssinenc

adverse regulatory decisions and legal, regulaiotgx changes could limit our business activitissfease our operating
costs and reduce our margi

We assume no obligation to publicly update or retieese forwardboking statements for any reason, or to updateehsons actual rest
could differ materially from those anticipated am,implied by, these forward-looking statementsreif new information becomes available in

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures &out Market Risk

We are transitioning from a smaller reporting compas defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Actamedhot required to provide the
information required under this item.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Castle Brands Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Castle Brands Inc. and subsidiaties“@ompany”)as of March 31, 20:
and 2014, and the related consolidated stateménjzenations, comprehensive loss, changes in sblakets’ equity, and cash flows for eacl
the years in the two-year period ended March 31520 he financial statements are the responsihilitthe Company management. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digidg in the financial statements. An @
also includes assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respect& tonsolidated financial position of
Company as of March 31, 2015 and 2014, and theotidased results of its operations and its castvsldor each of the years in the tweal
period ended March 31, 2015, in conformity with@atting principles generally accepted in the Unibtattes of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the Company’
internal control over financial reporting as of Mar31, 2015, based on criteria established in 882 Internal Control -Integrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriie Treadway Commission (“COSO8nd our report dated June 15, 2015 express
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP
New York, New York
June 15, 2015
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Current Asset
Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable -ret of allowance for doubtful accounts of $154,48d $204,418 at Mar
31, 2015 and 2014, respectivi

Due from shareholders and affilia

Inventories— net of allowance for obsolete and sieawing inventory of $267,557 and $266,4
at March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectiv

Deferred tax asst

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total Current Asset

Equipmeni— net

Intangible assets — net of accumulated amortizaifd6,713,774 and $6,058,005 at March 3:
2015 and 2014, respective

Goodwill
Restricted cas
Other asset

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Foreign revolving credit facilit
Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Due to shareholders and affilia

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities

Keltic facility

Bourbon term loan (including $179,063 and $484 8f7&elated-party participation at March 31
2015 and 2014, respective

Notes payabl- Junior loan (including $300,000 of related partyticgpation at March 31, 201+
Notes payable — 5% Convertible notes (includind 8,000 of related party participation at
March 31, 2015 and 201

Notes payabl— GCP Note

Deferred tax liability

Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note

Equity

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 25,000,000 sharesrized, no shares issued and outstandin
March 31, 2015 and 20!

Common stock, $.01 par value, 300,000,000 shartk®rdred at March 31, 2015 and

2014, 157,187,658 and 151,841,133 shares issuedwsicinding at March 31, 2015 and 2014

respectively

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive |i

Total controlling shareholde’ equity

CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ASSETS

Consolidated Balance Sheets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

March 31, March 31,

2015 2014
$ 1,191,60: $ 908,50:
10,550,99 8,858,141
138,75( 115,28t
21,068,24 14,650,02
37,00( 473,33(
1,492,80! 1,575,94
34,479,39 26,581,24
665,37 568,39!
7,683,22 8,178,88:
496,22t 496,22t
329,47: 416,56!
385,25 280,19!
$ 44,038,944 36,521,51
$ 34,14: 20,20
5,753,61 4,483,76.
1,067,46! 1,073,18:
1,963,88: 1,936,24
8,819,10. 7,513,39:
10,123,544 1,953,03
744.,90( 2,015,001
— 1,250,00!
1,675,00! 2,125,001
211,58( 211,58
1,370,15; 1,518,30.
22,944,27 16,586,31
1,571,87 1,518,41
162,626,89 157,485,96
(143,361,71) (139,561,96)
(2,285,92) (1,724,91)
18,551,13 17,717,49




Noncontrolling interest 2,543,52! 2,217,701

Total equity 21,094,66 19,935,19

Total Liabilities and Equity $ 44,038,994 $ 36,521,51

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended March 31

2015 2014

Sales, net $ 57,457,42 $ 48,140,48
Cost of sales’ 35,603,63 30,336,66
Provision for obsolete inventory 281,00( 200,00(
Gross profit 21,572,78 17,603,81
Selling expens 15,254,81 12,529,68
General and administrative expel 6,488,33 5,533,71
Depreciation and amortization 907,54( 860,25:
Loss from operations (1,077,90) (1,319,83)
Other income, ne 16,60: —
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliat — (502,519
Foreign exchange lot (4,569 (284,96))
Interest expense, n (1,129,04) (1,062,219
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili — (5,392,59)
Income tax (expense) benefit, net (1,278,99) 590,41:
Net loss (3,473,91) (7,971,71)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere (325,829 (935,03
Net loss attributable to controlling intere (3,799,74) (8,906,74)
Dividend to preferred shareholders — (384,599
Net loss attributable to common shareholc $ (3,799,74) $ (9,291,34)
Net loss per common share, basic and dilutedbatable to common sharehold: $ (0.0 $ (0.09)
Weighted average shares used in computation, badidiluted, attributable to common

shareholders 155,456,34 116,511,44

*Sales, net and Cost of sales include excise tak#6,754,453 and $6,420,730 for the years endediM2dl, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Years ended March 31

2015 2014

Net loss $
Other comprehensive (loss) incor
Foreign currency translation adjustment

Total other comprehensive (loss) income:

(3,473,91) $ (7,971,71)
(561,009 193,17
(561,009 193,17

Comprehensive loss $

(4,034,92) $ (7,778,53)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2013

Net (loss) incom

Foreign currency translatic
adjustmen

Issuance of common stock, net
issuance cos!

Conversion of series A preferr
stock and accrued dividen
Exercise of common stoc
warrants

Exercise of common stock
options

Accrued dividend- series A
convertible preferred stoc
Reclassification of liability tc
equity-warrant

Stock-based compensation

BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2014

Net (loss) incom:

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Issuance of common stock, net
issuance cos!

Exercise of common stoc
warrants

Surrender of common stock in
connection with exercise of
common stock warrar
Conversion of 5% convertib
notes and accrued interest thel
Exercise of common stock
options

Stocl-based compensatic

BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2015

CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Accumulated

Additional Other

Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive  Noncontrolling Total

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income Interests Equity
6,701 $ 67,01 108,773,03 $1,087,73 $142,661,54 $(130,270,62) $ (1,918,09) $ 1,282,66! $12,910,23
(8,906,74) 935,03  (7,971,71)
193,17¢ 193,17¢
5,394,60: 53,94¢ 4,293,35I 4,347,30:
(6,707) (67,019  27,465,61 274,65t (207,649 —
10,127,12 101,27: 3,747,06: 3,848,33:
80,75¢ 80¢ 25,16¢ 25,97¢
384,59 (384,59 =
6,187,96: 6,187,96:
393,91« 393,91
= & — 151,841,13 $1,518,41 $157,485,96 $(139,561,96) $ (1,724,91) $ 2,217,700 $19,935,19
(3,799,74) 325,82¢  (3,473,91)
(561,008 (561,009
2,537,92. 25,37¢ 3,108,18! 3,133,56!
1,657,80:. 16,57¢ 613,38 629,96!
(27,902 (279 (30,97) (31,250
501,57: 5,01% 446,40( 451,41
677,12 6,771 216,21 222,98
787,71( 787,71(
— $ — 157,187,65 $1,571,87 $162,626,89 $(143,361,71) $ (2,285,92) $ 2,543,52' $21,094,63

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic
Provision for doubtful accoun
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Change in fair value of warrant liabili
Deferred income tax expense (benefit),
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliatt
Effect of changes in foreign exchar
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Provision for obsolete inventori
Changes in operations, assets and liabili

Accounts receivabl

Due from affiliates

Inventory

Prepaid expenses and supp

Other asset

Accounts payable and accrued expel

Accrued interes

Due to related parties

Total adjustments
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of equipme

Acquisition of intangible asse

Change in restricted ca

Payments under contingent consideration agreements

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net proceeds from (payments on) Keltic faci

Payments on Bourbon term lo

(Payments on) proceeds from Junior I

Proceeds from 5% Convertible no

Net proceeds from (payments on) from foreign revg\credit facility
Proceeds from issuance of common st

Payments for costs of stock issua

Proceeds from exercise of common stock warr

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
EFFECTS OF FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — BEGINNING

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — ENDING

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Schedule of nc-cash investing and financing activiti
Conversion of series A preferred stock to commonle

Conversion of 5% convertible note, and accrued@stehereon, to common stc

Years ended March 31

2015 2014
(3,473,91) $ (7,971,71)
907,54( 860,25
(49,989 133,72t
166,94: 161,17t
— 5,392,59
288,17t (590,41)
— 502,51t
4,56¢ 284,96.
787,71( 393,91«
281,00( 200,00(
(1,671,92) (1,959,59)
(23,467) (193,68()
(7,223,60) (1,246,55)
77,581 (591,18
(272,000 (188,86
1,321,72. (597,12)
— 6,37¢
27,64: (416,069
(5,378,08) 2,152,03!
(8,852,001 (5,819,67)
(333,74) (234,69)
(160,109 (26,98()
(929) 60,131
— (5,940
(494,780 (207,479
8,170,50 (4,548,28)
(1,270,101 (481,000
(1,250,001 1,250,00!
— 2,125,00!
21,27¢ (73,79)
3,319,91! 4,531,64
(186,34) (184,34)
598,71! 3,848,33
222,98¢ 25,97¢
9,626,95. 6,493,52!
2,93( 2,79¢
283,10: 469,17t
908,50: 439,32
1,191,600 $ 908,50:
— 8,349,53
451,41 —



Surrender of common stock in connection with exsercf common stock warra $ 31,25( $ —
Interest paic $ 937,97 $ 867,78
Income taxes pai $ 293,52 $ 14,84¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AC COUNTING POLICIES

A. Description of business- The consolidated financial statements includeateounts of Castle Brands Inc. (the “Company?¥), it
wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, Castle BrandSA) Corp. (“CB-USA”) and McLain & Kyne, Ltd. (“Mchin & Kyne”), the
Company’s wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries, CaBlands Spirits Group Limited (“CB-IRL") and CasB&ands Spirits Marketing
and Sales Company Limited, and the Company’s 6@Wtecship interest in Gosling-Castle Partners It8QP”), with adjustments fc
income or loss allocated based upon percentageérship. The accounts of the subsidiaries have metuded as of the date of
acquisition. All significant intercompany transacts and balances have been eliming

B. Organization and operations The Company is principally engaged in the impiowtg marketing and sale of premium and super
premium brands of rums, whiskey, liqueurs, vodkd &mguila in the United States, Canada, Europefasal

C. Brands— Rum and Ginger Bee+ Gosling’'s rums, a family of premium rums with @2year history, including the award-winning
Gosling’s Black Seal rum, for which the Companytiispugh its export venture GCP, the exclusive rekoutside of Bermuda, and
Goslin¢'s Stormy Ginger Beer, an essential -alcoholic ingredient in Goslir's trademarked Dar n Stormy® rum cocktail.

Whiskey—Premium small batch bourbons: Jefferson’s, JafféssReserve, Jefferson’s Chef’s Collaborationfefebn’s Ocean Aged
at Sea and Jefferson’s Presidential Select, JefieyRye, an aged rye whiskey, and Jefferson’sMaehattan: Barrel Finished
Cocktail, a ready-to-drink cocktail; the Clontarih whiskeys, a family of premium Irish whiskegsailable in single malt and classic
pure grain versions; Knappogue Castle Whiskeyntage-dated premium single-malt Irish whiskey; Kpague Castle 1951, a pure
pot-still whiskey that has been aged for 36 yeams, Knappogue Twin Wood, the first Sherry Finiske@ppogue Castle Whiskey.

Ligueur— Pallini Limoncello, Raspicello and Peachcellorpiem Italian liqueurs, pursuant to an exclusive .Urfarketing
arrangement; Brady’s Irish Cream, a premium Iriskam liqueur; Castello Mio, a super premium SampGedtic Honey, a premium
Irish liqueur; and Gozio amaretto, a premium ltaligiueur, pursuant to a U.S. distribution agreetmen

Vodka— Boru vodka, an ultra-pure, five-times distilleadaspecially filtered premium vodka. Boru is proddan Ireland.

Tequila— a USDA certified organic, super-premium tequilaquila Tierras Autenticas de Jalisco or Tierrdse Tompany is the
exclusive U.S. importer and marketer of Tierrasicivtis available as blanco, reposado and ai

D. Cash and cash equivalentsThe Company considers all highly liquid instrurtsewith a maturity at date of acquisition of three
months or less to be cash equivale

E. _Equity investmentsEquity investments are carried at original catisted for the Company’s proportionate share efitivestees’
income, losses and distributions. The Company assdhe carrying value of its equity investmentsrvan indicator of a loss in val
is present and records a loss in value of the tnvast when the assessment indicates that an dthertemporary decline in the
investment exists. The Company classifies its gqearnings of non-consolidated affiliate equityeéstment as a component of net
income or loss

F. Trade accounts receivableThe Company records trade accounts receivablet atakzable value. This value includes an appaip
allowance for estimated uncollectible accountsftect anticipated losses on the trade accounvaale balances. The Company
calculates this allowance based on its history ritevwoffs, level of past due accounts based onractial terms of the receivables and
its relationships with and economic status of itstomers. For the years ended March 31, 2015 a4, #0e Company recorded
allowances for doubtful accounts of $236,000 an@B$409, respectivel)

G. Revenue recognitior Revenue from product sales is recognized whepithauct is shipped to a customer (generally aibligor),
title and risk of loss has passed to the customac¢ordance with the terms of sale (FOB shippwigtpr FOB destination), and
collection is reasonably assured. Revenue is mogrézed on shipments to control states in theddnBtates until such time as proc
is sold through to the retail chann

H. Inventories— Inventories are comprised of distilled spiritalkowine, dry good raw materials (bottles, labelxks and caps),
packaging and finished goods, and are valued dother of cost or market, using the weighted averegst method. The Company
assesses the valuation of its inventories and edilne carrying value of those inventories thabéasolete or in excess of the
Company’s forecasted usage to their estimatedeiadizable value. The Company estimates the nazaddd value of such inventories
based on analyses and assumptions including, blitmited to, historical usage, expected future dachand market requirements. A
change to the carrying value of inventories is rded in cost of goods sold. See Not
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During the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014Ctmepany recorded allowances for obsolete and siowing inventory of
$281,000 and $200,000, respectively. The Compargrded these allowances on both raw materialsiaighéd goods, primarily in
connection with the disposition of wine brandsgledind packaging changes made to certain brandglaas wine spoilage and cert
cost variances. The charges have been recordedraases to Cost of Sales in the respective years.

Equipment— Equipment consists of office equipment, compugers software and furniture and fixtures. When tasgee retired or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and related degtieciis removed from the accounts, and any regutiain or loss is recognized in-
statement of operations. Equipment is depreciasatfjithe straight-line method over the estimateduldives of the assets ranging
from three to five year:

Goodwill and other intangible assetsGoodwill represents the excess of purchase pridaeding related costs over the value assic
to the net tangible and identifiable intangibleeas®f businesses acquired. Goodwill and othettiiigle intangible assets with
indefinite lives are not amortized, but insteadtasted for impairment annually, or more frequeiftircumstances indicate a possi
impairment may exist. Intangible assets with eshi@aiseful lives are amortized over their respecéistimated useful lives, generally
on a straight-line basis, and are reviewed for imnpent whenever events or changes in circumstandésate that the carrying value
may not be recoverabl

Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (8B2) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 35Mtangibles - Goodwill and
Other”, impairment of goodwill must be tested atseannually by comparing the fair values of theliapble reporting units with the
carrying amount of their net assets, including gatidThe required two-step approach uses accogrjtidgments and estimates of
future operating results. Changes in estimateleoapplication of alternative assumptions couldipog significantly different results.
The estimates that most significantly affect thievalue calculation are related to revenue growtst of sales, selling and marketing
expenses and discount rates. Impairment testidgrie at the reporting level. If the carrying amoofithe reporting unit’s net assets
exceeds the unit’s fair value, an impairment les®cognized in an amount equal to the excessafdtrying amount of goodwill over
its implied fair value. The implied fair value obgdwill is determined in the same manner as theuanaf goodwill recognized in a
business combination with the fair value of theortipg unit deemed to be the purchase price paghtR trademarks, trade names
formulations are indefinite lived intangible asset$ subject to amortization and are tested foraiimmpent at least annually. The
impairment test consists of a comparison of thevialue of the asset group allocated to each rigygpunit with its allocated carrying
amount.

The fair value of each reporting unit was determiaeMarch 31, 2015 and 2014 by weighting a contlmnaof the present value of 1
Company’s discounted anticipated future operatashdlows and values based on market multipleswdnue and earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (THBA") of comparable companies.

Impairment and disposal of lofliged assets— Under ASC 310, “Accounting for the Impairmentisposal of Long-lived Assets”,
the Company periodically reviews whether change® lvecurred that would require revisions to theyiag amounts of its definite
lived, long-lived assets. When the sum of the etqbtuture cash flows is less than the carrying@mof the asset, an impairment
loss is recognized based on the fair value of fiseta The Company did not record an impairmenbog-lived assets for the years
ended March 31, 2015 and 20

Shipping and handling- The Company reflects as inventory costs freighafd related external handling charges relatirtheo
purchase of raw materials and finished goods. Thests are charged to cost of sales at the timartterlying product is sold. The
Company also incurs shipping costs in connectigh 8 various marketing activities, including tsi@pment of point of sale materi:
to the Company’s regional sales managers and cesto@nd the costs of shipping product in conneatiith its various marketing
programs and promotions. These shipping chargeseleled in selling expense and were $2,574,481$4879,881 for the years
ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respecti\

. Excise taxes and duty Excise taxes and duty are computed at standted based on alcohol proof per gallon/liter andpaie after
finished goods are imported into the United Statebthen transferred out of “bondEXcise taxes and duty are recorded to inventc
a component of the cost of the underlying finisgedds. When the underlying products are sold “esetvause”, the sales price
reflects the taxes paid and the inventoried exeises and duties are charged to cost of s

Distributor charges and promotional goedsThe Company incurs charges from its distribuforsa variety of transactions and
services rendered by the distributor, includingdmet depletions, product samples for various préonat purposes, in-store tastings
and training where legal, and local advertising rgHegal. Such charges are reflected as sellingresgpas incurred. Also, the
Company has entered into arrangements with cesfata distributors whereby the purchase of a patér product or products by a
distributor is accompanied by a percentage of #te Iseing composed of promotional goods or as dgpeemined discount percentage
of dollars off invoice. In such cases, the coshefpromotional goods is charged to cost of satésdallars off invoice are a reduction
to revenue
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0. Foreign currency- The functional currency for the Company’s fore@perations is the Euro in Ireland and the Brifigtund in the
United Kingdom. Under ASC 830, “Foreign Currencytides”, the translation from the applicable fore@mnrencies to U.S. Dollars is
performed for balance sheet accounts using exchatee in effect at the balance sheet date aneg¥@nue and expense accounts
using a weighted average exchange rate duringatied The resulting translation adjustments acenged as a component of other
comprehensive income. Gains or losses resulting fayeign currency transactions are shown as aagpne item in the
consolidated statements of operatic

P. _Fair value of financial instruments ASC 825, “Financial Instruments”, defines the falue of a financial instrument as the amount
at which the instrument could be exchanged in eectitransaction between willing parties and resgittisclosure of the fair value of
certain financial instruments. The Company beligbes there is no material difference between #ievialue and the reported amot
of financial instruments in the Company’s balanteets due to the short term maturity of theseunsénts, or with respect to the
Compan’s debt, as compared to the current borrowing ataesable to the Compan

The Company’s investments are reported awtdire in accordance with authoritative guidanceictviaccomplishes the following key
objectives:
- Defines fair value as the price that would deeived to sell an asset or paid to transfer ditian an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
- Establishes a thr-level hierarchy“valuation hierarch”) for fair value measurement
- Requires consideration of the Comp’s creditworthiness when valuing liabilities; &
- Expands disclosures about instruments measuredr atiue.

The valuation hierarchy is based upon the parehcy of inputs to the valuation of an assetanility as of the measurement date. A
financial instrument’s categorization within thduetion hierarchy is based upon the lowest levehpiit that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The three levels of the valudiierarchy are as follow
- Level 1 — inputs to the valuation methodologyg quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical asselsbilities in active
markets
- Level 2 —inputs to the valuation methodologgliude quoted prices for similar assets and ligbdiin active markets, and
inputs that are directly or indirectly observalie the asset or liability for substantially thel fidrm of the financial
instrument.
- Level 3—inputs to the valuation methodology are unobsersabl significant to the fair value measurem

Q. Income taxes- Under ASC 740, “Income Taxes”, deferred tax asaat liabilities are recognized for the future carsequences
attributable to differences between the finandialesnent carrying amounts of existing assets auilities and their respective tax
basis. A valuation allowance is provided to theeakt deferred tax asset is not considered recolee

The Company has adopted the provisions of A8Cand has recognized no adjustment for unceraiprovisions. The Company
recognizes interest and penalties related to umiceidx positions in general and administrativeesiqe.

R. Research and development cest3he costs of research, development and produymomement are charged to expense as incurred
and are included in selling expen

S. _Advertising— Advertising costs are expensed when the advegtiiist appears in its respective medium. Advertjiexpense, which
is included in selling expense, was $3,184,392%h@52,819 for the years ended March 31, 2015 aid,2espectively

T. Use of estimates- The preparation of financial statements in comiity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Pripleis
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimatesamsdimptions that affect the reported amounts etsssd liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expense:
during the reporting period. Actual results couilfied from those estimates. Estimates include g@anting for items such as
evaluating annual impairment tests, derivativerumaents and equity issuances, warrant valuatioskgbased compensation,
allowances for doubtful accounts and inventory témstence, depreciation, amortization and expenseals.
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U. Recent accounting pronouncementdn April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Siifyphg the Presentation of Debt Issuance
Costs, which requires that debt issuance costcketa a recognized debt liability be presenteth@ébalance sheet as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that dehility, consistent with debt discounts. The recdigmi and measurement guidance
debt issuance costs are not affected. Upon adgptierCompany will apply the new guidance on aosgiective basis and adjust the
balance sheet of each individual period presemtedflect the period-specific effects of applyihg thew guidance. This guidance is
effective for the Company beginning April 1, 20I®e Company is currently evaluating the new guiganadetermine the impact the
adoption of this guidance will have on the Compamgsults of operations, cash flows and finanaaldition.

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, Glidfestion: Amendments to the Consolidation AnalysAsSU 2015-02"). ASU
2015-02 amends the consolidation requirements igmnifisantly changes the consolidation analysisuresfd. ASU 2015-02 requires
management to re-evaluate all legal entities uadewrised consolidation model specifically (1) nfpdihe evaluation of whether
limited partnership and similar legal entities Saiable Interest Entities (“VIES”), (2) eliminatee presumption that a general partne
should consolidate a limited partnership, (3) dffee consolidation analysis of reporting entitiest are involved with VIEs
particularly those that have fee arrangements elatid party relationships, and (4) provide a seqeption from consolidation
guidance for reporting entities with interestsagdl entities that are required to comply with pem@te in accordance with
requirements that are similar to those in Rule 2dthe Investment Act of 1940 for registered monerket funds. The guidance is
effective for annual periods and interim periodgibring after December 15, 2015. Early adoptiopeisnitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the new guidance to deterntiieeimpact the adoption of this guidance will hanvethe Company’s results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Pregimm of Financial Statements Going Concern (Suibt@805-40) — Disclosure

of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Comtie as a Going Concern. Currently, there is noamgd in U.S. GAAP about
management’s responsibility to evaluate whethertiesubstantial doubt about an entity’s abilitycontinue as a going concern or to
provide related footnote disclosures. The amendsnarthis update provide that guidance. The amentsrae intended to reduce
diversity in the timing and content of footnoteddsures. The amendments require management tesasentitys ability to continu
as a going concern by incorporating and expandjrogn wertain principles that are currently in U.&diing standards. Specifically, t
amendments (1) provide a definition of the termb&antial doubt,” (2) require an evaluation eveyarting period, including interim
periods, (3) provide principles for considering thigigating effect of management’s plans, (4) reguwiertain disclosures when
substantial doubt is alleviated as a result of i@mation of management’s plans, (5) require anesgstatement and other disclosure:
when substantial doubt is not alleviated, and éguire an assessment for a period of one yearta&tefate that the financial
statements are issued (or available to be isstibd)amendments in this update are effective fouahperiods ending after December
15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Compiarourrently evaluating the new guidance to deteenthe impact the adoption of
this guidance will have on the Company’s resultepédrations, cash flows and financial condition.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Gamation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718); Accaogntor Share-Based
Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide Tlrdréormance Target Could Be Achieved after the RéguService Period. The
amendments in this ASU apply to all reporting éadithat grant employees share-based paymentsidh wie award terms provide
that a performance target that affects vestingcdtbalachieved after the requisite service perib@ dmendments require that a
performance target that affects vesting and thaldcbe achieved after the requisite service pemodt be treated as a performance
condition. A reporting entity should apply existiggidance in Topic 718 as it relates to awards wétformance conditions that affect
vesting to account for such awards. The amendnienités ASU are effective for annual periods an@iiim periods beginning after
December 15, 2015. Earlier adoption is permittdte Tompany is currently evaluating the new guiddoabetermine the impact the
adoption of this guidance will have on the Compamgsults of operations, cash flows and finan@aldition.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Rexeefnom Contracts with Customers, to clarify thagiples for recognizing
revenue. This guidance includes the required stepshieve the core principle that an entity shaalttbgnize revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to custoimess amount that reflects the consideration techvkthe entity expects to be entit
in exchange for those goods or services. This gulés effective for fiscal years and interim pdsdeginning after December 15,
2016. The Company is currently evaluating the neidance to determine the impact the adoption af gidance will have on the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows andnfaial condition.

The Company does not believe that any other recesstied, but not yet effective accounting stanslafcurrently adopted, would
have a material effect on the accompanying findrstédements

V. Accounting standards adoptedIn April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08iethprovides final guidance to change the
criteria for reporting discontinued operations wtehhancing disclosures in this area. Under thequeédance, only disposals
representing a strategic shift, such as a majerdirbusiness, a major geographical area or a reajaity investment, should be
presented as discontinued operations. The guidaifidee applied prospectively to new disposals aew classifications of disposal
groups as held for sale after the effective dalte. Company adopted the guidance effective Ap2i01L5 and the adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on the Goms results of operations, cash flows or finahc@adition.

NOTE 2 — BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER COMMON SHAR E

Basic net loss per common share is computed bdidiyinet loss by the weighted average number ofncomshares outstanding during



period. Diluted net loss per common share is coetpgtving effect to all potentially dilutive commahares that were outstanding during the
period that are not anti-dilutive. Potentially die common shares consist of incremental shasesiide upon exercise of stock options and
warrants or conversion of convertible notes outiitagn In computing diluted net loss per share figryears ended March 31, 2015 and 2014,
no adjustment has been made to the weighted avetagiending common shares as the assumed exef@aéstanding options and warrants
and the assumed conversion of convertible notastisdilutive.
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Potential common shares not included in calculatihged net loss per share are as follows:

Years ended March 31

2015 2014

Stock options 11,988,18 11,174,00
Warrants to purchase common sti 120,00( 1,777,80:
5% Convertible notes 1,861,11 2,361,11
Total 13,969,29 15,312,922
NOTE 3 — INVENTORIES

March 31,

2015 2014

Raw material— net $ 9,250,89: $ 4,502,23
Finished goods — net 11,817,34 10,147,79
Total $ 21,06824 $ 14,650,02

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, 10% and 19%, re&pdyt of raw materials and 4% and 5%, respectivefyfinished goods were located
outside of the United States.

In the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, thep@oyacquired $5,333,763 and $3,343,500 of agedbbouwhiskey, respectively,
support of its anticipated near and mid-term needs.

The Company estimates the allowance for obsoledesknw moving inventory based on analyses and gssoms including, but not limited to,
historical usage, expected future demand and megkeirements.

Inventories are stated at the lower of weightedaye cost or market.

NOTE 4 — EQUITY INVESTMENT

Investment in GoslingCastle Partners Inc.

As referenced in Note 11, GCP does not file codatdid tax returns with the Company. For the yededvarch 31, 2015, GCP recognized
$(288,178) of deferred tax expense on GCP’s estidhstandalone taxable income. The Company allocated 40this®expense, or ($115,27
to minority interest for the year ended March 3112

Discontinuation of Investment in DP_Castle Partnet<

In August 2010, CB-USA formed DP Castle Partnets; I(*'DPCP”) with Drink Pie, LLC to manage the maaafuring and marketing of
Travis Hasse’s Original Apple Pie Liqueur, Cherig Biqueur and any future line extensions of thenor. In December 2013, CB-USA
determined to cease marketing and selling thesedbrand returned the remaining inventory to Drifg BLC. For the year ended March 31,
2014, CB-USA purchased $170,880 in finished gooais DPCP under a distribution agreement. At Marth2®14, CB-USA owned 20% of
now inactive DPCP. CB-USA also earned a defineel odinterest on its capital contribution to DP®Bsed on its ownership in DPCP. For the
year ended March 31, 2014, -USA earned $4,200 in interest income on its capaatribution to DPCP. The Company accounted igg t
investment under the equity method of accounting:dnnection with the discontinuation of marketangl sales efforts, the Company
recognized a loss of $502,518 from its investme@PCP for the year ended March 31, 2014, includi$d.20,900 loss on investment and
write-offs of $399,618 on the remaining receivatddances due from DPCP.
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NOTE 5 — EQUIPMENT, NET

Equipment consists of the following:

March 31,
2015 2014
Equipment and softwal $ 2,434,341 $ 2,317,311
Furniture and fixtures 40,89¢ 10,32¢
2,475,23 2,327,63!
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,809,86! 1,759,24
Balance $ 665,37. $ 568,39
Depreciation expense for the years ended MarcR@l5 and 2014 totaled $249,683 and $204,180, régpkc
NOTE 6 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfer years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 were lasviol
Amount
Balance as of March 31, 20 $ 490,28t
Payments under McLain and Kyne agreement 5,94(
Balance as of March 31, 20 $ 496,22!
Year ended March 31, 2015 —
Balance as of March 31, 2015 $ 496,22t
Intangible assets consist of the following:
March 31,
2015 2014
Definite life brands $ 170,00( $ 170,00(
Trademark: 631,69: 535,94
Rights 8,271,55! 8,271,55!
Product developmel 161,32: 96,95¢
Patents 994,00( 994,00(
Other 55,46( 55,46(
10,284,02 10,123,92
Less: accumulated amortization 6,713,77. 6,058,00!
Net 3,570,25! 4,065,91
Other identifiable intangible assets — indefiniteet* 4,112,97, 4,112,97.
$ 7,683,22 $ 8,178,88
Accumulated amortization consists of the following:
March 31,
2015 2014
Definite life brands $ 170,00 $ 170,00(
Trademarks 295,95¢ 262,09t
Rights 5,513,16: 4,961,17
Product developmel 24,00z 20,35(
Patents 710,65 644,38
Other - -
Accumulated amortization $ 6,713,77. $ 6,058,00!

* Other identifiable intangible assets — indefirliteed consists of product formulations and the @any’s relationships with its distillers.
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Amortization expense for the years ended Marc2815 and 2014 totaled $655,769 and $654,005, régpkc

Estimated aggregate amortization expense for ekittemext five fiscal years is as follows:

Years ending March 31, Amount

2016 $ 711,69t
2017 705,24¢
2018 646,97:
2019 607,47
2020 567,53t
Total $ 3,238,93

NOTE 7 — RESTRICTED CASH

At March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had €30308%$329,471 (translated at the March 31, 2015 &xge rate) and €302,920 or
$416,565 (translated at the March 31, 2014 excheaigg, respectively, of cash restricted from witlvdal and held by a bank in Ireland as
collateral for overdraft coverage, creditairssurance, customs and excise guaranty and a iagalvedit facility as described in Note 8A bel

NOTE 8 — NOTES PAYABLE AND CAPITAL LEASE

March 31,
2015 2014

Notes payable consist of the followir

Foreign revolving credit facilities (A $ 34,14: $ 20,20¢

Note payabl— GCP note (B 211,58( 211,58(

Keltic facility (C) 10,123,54 1,953,03

Bourbon term loan (D 744,90( 2,015,00!

Junior loan (E — 1,250,001

5% Convertible notes (F) 1,675,001 2,125,00!
Total $ 12,789,16 $ 7,574,82.

A. The Company has arranged various facilitiggragating €303,657 or $329,471 (translated at thecM31, 2015 exchange rate) with
an Irish bank, including overdraft coverage, craditinsurance, customs and excise guaranty, aadaving credit facility. These
facilities are payable on demand, continue untihieated by either party, are subject to annuakseyand call for interest at the
lender's AA1 Rate minus 1.70%. The balance on thditfacilities included in notes payable totaf1,466 or $34,141 (translated at
the March 31, 2015 exchange rate) and €14,693 @263 (translated at the March 31, 2014 excharigg, & March 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively

B. In December 2009, GCP issued a promissory (tioee"GCP Note”) in the aggregate principal amoofi$211,580 to Gosling's Export
(Bermuda) Limited in exchange for credits issuedtertain inventory purchases. The GCP Note matmespril 1, 2020, is payable
maturity, subject to certain acceleration events, @alls for annual interest of 5%, to be accrusdi @aid at maturity. At March 31,
2015 and 2014, $10,579 of accrued interest wasertet/to amounts due to affiliates. At March 3112@nd 2014, $211,580 of
principal due on the GCP Note was included in -term liabilities.

C. In August 2011, the Company and CB-USA entaradla loan agreement with Keltic Financial Parsnig, LP (“Keltic”), which, as
amended, provides for availability (subject to arterms and conditions) of a facility of up ta281 million (the “Keltic Facility”) for
the purpose of providing the Company with workiragital.

In September 2014, the Company and CB-USA enteitedan Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agee(the “Amended
Agreement”) with ACF FinCo | LP (“ACF")as successor in interest to Keltic, in order to @angertain terms of the Keltic Facility a
the Bourbon Term Loan (defined below). Among otttesnges, the Amended Agreement modified certaiacspf the existing
Keltic Facility, including increasing the maximumaunt of the Keltic Facility from $8,000,000 to $220,000 and increasing the
inventory sublimit from $4,000,000 to $6,000,000. In additiohetterm of the Keltic Facility was extended fromcBeber 31, 2016
July 31, 2019. The Keltic Facility interest ratesnvaduced to the rate that, when annualized, igrb&test of (a) the Prime Rate plus
3.00%, (b) the LIBOR Rate plus 5.50% and (c) 6.2B8%o0f December 31, 2014, the Keltic Facility irstr rate was 6.25%. The
monthly facility fee was reduced from 1.00% per@mrof the maximum Keltic Facility amount to 0.75F.addition, the Amended
Agreement contains EBITDA targets allowing for et interest rate reductions in the future. The Adesl Agreement also modifies
certain aspects of the EBITDA covenant that wasainad in the previously existing loan and secuaifiyeement, dated as of August
19, 2011, as amended. The Company paid ACF angagr§120,000 amendment fee in connection witlexieeution of the
Amended Agreemen
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In connection with the amendment, the Company@B-USA entered into the following ancillary agneents: (i) a Reaffirmation
Agreement with (a) certain officers of the Compamg CB-USA, including John Glover, the Company’se€perating Officer, T.
Kelley Spillane, the Company’'s Senior Vice Prestde@lobal Sales, and Alfred Small, the Companyésisr Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary, (b)aiemarticipants in the Bourbon Term Loan andcértain junior lenders to the
Company, including Frost Gamma Investments Trusgrdity affiliated with Phillip Frost, M.D., a dictor and principal shareholder
of the Company, Mark E. Andrews, lll, a directortbé Company and the Company’s Chairman, an a#ilié Richard J. Lampen, a
director of the Company and the Company’s PresidedtChief Executive Officer, an affiliate of GleHalpryn, a director of the
Company, Dennis Scholl, a former director of therpany, and Vector Group Ltd., a more than 5% shwdeh of the Company, of
which Richard Lampen is an executive officer anditfeBeinstein, a director of the Company, is acwe which, among other thing
reaffirms the existing Validity and Support Agreertseby and among each officer, the Company, CB-@8&ACF, as successor-in-
interest to Keltic; (ii) an Amended and RestatedTélote (the "Term Note"); and (iii) an Amended d&ektated Revolving Credit
Note (the "Revolving Note"

In connection with the Amended Agreement, on Sep&rd2, 2014, ACF entered into an amendment toctiréin Subordination
Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2013 (as amenlkedSubordination Agreement"), by and among AGSEccessor-in-interest to
Keltic, and certain junior lenders to the Compamgither the Company nor CB-USA is a party to thbddination Agreement.

The Company and CB-USA are referred to individualhg collectively as the Borrower. The Borrower rbayrow up to the
maximum amount of the Keltic Facility, provided tiiae Borrower has a sufficient borrowing basedefned under the Amended
Agreement). For the year ended March 31, 2015Ctirapany paid interest at 6.5%, until such timehasitterest was reduced to
6.25% in connection with the September 2014 amentinm@erest is payable monthly in arrears, onfitts¢ day of every month on the
average daily unpaid principal amount of the Kdhaxility. After the occurrence and during the @omance of any "Default” or "Eve
of Default" (as defined under the Amended Agreeméhé Borrower is required to pay interest atta that is 3.25% per annum abi
the then applicable Keltic Facility interest raftbere have been no Events of Default under thad<€#cility. In addition to the fee in
connection with the Amended Agreement, the Compeigt a $40,000 commitment fee in connection withftrst amendment, a
$70,000 closing and commitment fee in connectiah Wie second amendment and a $25,000 closingandhitment fee in
connection with the third amendment. Keltic alscefees a collateral management fee of $1,000 pethm@creased to $2,000 after
the occurrence of and during the continuance dfant of Default). The Amended Agreement contaiaedard borrower
representations and warranties for asset-basedviiog and a number of reporting obligations andmatitive and negative covenants.
The Amended Agreement includes negative covenhatsamong other things, restrict the Borrower'sitslio create additional
indebtedness, dispose of properties, incur liedsnaake distributions or cash dividends. At March Z115, the Company was in
compliance, in all respects, with the covenantsutite Amended Agreement. At March 31, 2015 anad!2$10,123,544 and
$1,953,037, respectively, due on the Keltic Facililas included in lor-term liabilities.

In March 2013, the Company and CEBA entered into an inventory term loan of $2,496,(he "Bourbon Term Loan") that was u
to purchase bourbon inventory on March 11, 2013e&insooner terminated in accordance with its tetinesBourbon Term Loan
matures on July 31, 2019. The Bourbon Term Loasrast rate is the rate that, when annualizedgigtbatest of (a) the Prime Rate
plus 4.25%, (b) the LIBOR Rate plus 6.75% and (BP%. For the year ended March 31, 2015, the Coynpaid interest of 7.5%.
Interest is payable monthly in arrears, on the fies/ of every month on the average daily unpaidcgral amount of the Bourbon
Term Loan. After the occurrence and during the iooatnce of any "Default” or "Event of Default" (@sfined under the loan
agreement), the Borrower is required to pay inteata rate that is 3.25% per annum above thedpplicable Bourbon Term Loan
interest rate. The Borrower is required to pay dolenprincipal balance of the Bourbon Term Loarhimitl5 banking days from the
completion of a bottling run of bourbon from theublmon inventory stock purchased on or about the dithe Bourbon Term Loan in
an amount equal to the purchase price of such bouithe unpaid principal balance of the BourbomTepan, all accrued and unp.
interest thereon, and all fees, costs and expgraseble in connection with the Bourbon Term Loandue and payable in full on
December 31, 201

Keltic required as a condition to funding the Baamblrerm Loan that Keltic had entered into a pgrtition agreement (the
"Participation Agreement") providing for an initiaggregate amount of $750,000 of the Bourbon Tewanlto be purchased by junior
participants. Certain related parties of the Compgaurchased a portion of these junior participationthe Bourbon Term Loan,
including Frost Gamma Investments Trust ($500,00@xk E. Andrews, Il ($50,000) and an affiliateRichard J. Lampen ($50,000)
(amounts shown are initial purchase amounts). Utigeterms of the Participation Agreement, theguparticipants receive interes
the rate of 11% per annum. Neither the CompanyQi3tJSA is a party to the Participation Agreementwever, the Borrower is
party to a fee letter (the "Fee Letter") with tbeipr participants (including the related partyiprrparticipants) pursuant to which the
Borrower is obligated to pay the junior participmah aggregate commitment fee of $45,000 in thyealeannual installments of
$15,000. In August 2013, the Bourbon Term Loan aragnded to provide the Company with the abilitintyease the maximum
aggregate principal amount of the Bourbon Term Livpam $2,500,000 to up to $4,000,000 to financepheehase of aged whiskies
following the identification of junior participants purchase a portion of the increased BourbomTeayan amount. The balance on
the Bourbon Term Loan included in notes payablaléot$744,900 and $2,015,000 at March 31, 2015326atd, respectively. In May
2015, the Bourbon Term Loan was paid in full in@dance with its standard terms in the normal eofdusiness.
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E.

In August 2013, the Company entered into anLdgreement (the "Junior Loan Agreement"), by aathieen the Company and the
lending parties thereto (the "Junior Lenders"),chhprovided for an aggregate $1,250,000 unsecogad(the "Junior Loan") to the
Company. The Junior Loan bore interest at a rafel®f per annum, payable quarterly in arrears coremgrNovember 1, 2013, and
was set to mature on October 15, 2015. The JurdanlAgreement provided for a funding fee of 2%ag@rum on the then
outstanding Junior Loan balance (pro-rated for@emnjod of less than one year), payable pro ratangntite Junior Lenders on the date
of the Junior Loan Agreement and on the first aawbad anniversaries thereof. The Junior Lendetaded Frost Gamma Investments
Trust ($200,000), Mark E. Andrews, Il ($50,000daam affiliate of Richard J. Lampen ($50,000)

In September 2014, in connection with the AmendgceAment described in Note 8C, the Company usemkpds from the Keltic
Facility to repay the $1,250,000 principal amoumistanding under the Junior Loan and all accruedoanstanding interest. At March
31, 2014, $1,250,000 of principal due on the Jub@an was included in lo-term liabilities.

In October 2013, the Company entered into &Cs#ivertible Subordinated Note Purchase Agreentkat'Note Purchase
Agreement") with the purchasers party thereto, umdech the Company issued an aggregate initiagipal amount of $2,125,000 of
unsecured subordinated notes (the "Convertible Npt&he Convertible Notes bear interest at a0t per annum, payable
quarterly, until their maturity date of December 2818. The Convertible Notes, and accrued butidripterest thereon, are
convertible in whole or in part from time to timethe option of the holders thereof into sharethefCompany’s common stock at a
conversion price of $0.90 per share (the "ConverBince"). The Convertible Notes may be prepaidfimle or in part at any time
without penalty or premium, but with payment of am interest to the date of prepayment. The CaimeNotes contain customary
events of default, which, if uncured, entitle eacite holder to accelerate the due date of the drgraicipal amount of, and all accrt
and unpaid interest on, the Convertible Notes.

The purchasers of the Convertible Notes includateel parties of the Company, including an affiliet®r. Phillip Frost ($500,000),
Mark E. Andrews, Il ($50,000), an affiliate of Riard J. Lampen ($50,000), an affiliate of Glenngtah ($200,000), a director,
Dennis Scholl ($100,000), a former director, and¢tdeGroup Ltd. ($200,000).

The Company may forcibly convert all or any partted Convertible Notes and all accrued but unpatierést thereon if (i) the average
daily volume of the Company’s common stock (as reggbon the principal market or exchange on whithdommon stock is listed or
quoted for trading) exceeds $50,000 per tradingadfety(ii) the volume weighted average price ofdbmmon stock for at least twenty
(20) trading days during any thirty (30) consecaitirading day period exceeds 250% of the then-otio@nversion price. Any forced
conversion will be applied ratably to the holdefslbConvertible Notes issued pursuant to the Nlechase Agreement based on
each holder’s then-current note holdings.

In connection with the Note Purchase Agreement) gacchaser of the Convertible Notes was requivezkecute a joinder to the
subordination agreement, by and among Keltic aniceother junior lenders to the Company; the Camypis not a party to the
Subordination Agreement.

In the year ended March 31, 2015, Convertible Matders converted $350,000 of Convertible Notes$#87 of accrued interest
thereon into 389,676 shares of common stock. Atchl&d, 2015 and 2014, $1,675,000 and $2,125,0p@mdipal due on the
Convertible Notes was included in I¢-term liabilities, respectively

Payments due on notes payable are as follows:

Years ending March 31, Amount

2016 $ 34,14:
2017 —
2018 —
2019 1,675,00!
2020 10,868,44
Thereafter 211,58
Total $ 12,789,16
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NOTE 9 — EQUITY

Equity distribution agreement In November 2014, the Company entered into aritizdistribution Agreement (the "2014 Distribution
Agreement") with Barrington Research Associates, (fBarrington™), as sales agent, under whichGbenpany may issue and sell over time
and from time to time, to or through Barringtonas#s (the "Shares") of its common stock havingogsgsales price of up to $10,000,000.

Sales of the Shares pursuant to the 2014 Distdbutgreement, if any, may be effected by any metherhitted by law deemed to be an "at-
the-market" offering as defined in Rule 415 of 8exurities Act of 1933, as amended, including witHonitation directly on the NYSE MKT
LLC or any other existing trading market for thexgnon stock or through a market maker, up to thewernspecified, and otherwise to or
through Barrington in accordance with the placenmenices delivered by the Company to BarringtorsoAlwith the prior consent of the
Company, some of the Shares may be sold in privaggotiated transactions. Under the 2014 DistidouAgreement, Barrington will be
entitled to compensation of 2.0 % of the gross @eds from the sale of all of the Shares sold tiid@yrington, as sales agent, pursuant to th
2014 Distribution Agreement. Also, the Company wglimburse Barrington for certain expenses incuimezbnnection with the matters
contemplated by the 2014 Distribution Agreementtagn aggregate of $50,000, plus up to an additi$n,500 per calendar quarter related tc
ongoing maintenance; provided, however, that sagchbursement amount shall not exceed 8% of thecggdg gross proceeds received by the
Company under the 2014 Distribution Agreement.

From November 2014 through March 31, 2015, the Gomsold 1,290,581 Shares pursuant to the 2014ilRisbn Agreement, with total
gross proceeds of $2,088,674, before deducting salent and offering expenses of $122,149.

In November 2013, the Company entered into an EdRigtribution Agreement (the "2013 Distribution kegment”) with Barrington, as sales
agent, under which the Company could issue andsefitime and from time to time, to or through agton, Shares of its common
stock having a gross sales price of up to $6.Ganill

In the three months ended June 30, 2014, the Congmdd 1,247,343 Shares pursuant to the 2013 bigtan Agreement, with total gross
proceeds of $1,231,241, before deducting sales agenoffering expenses of $64,198. No Shares s@tkin the nine-month period from July
1, 2014 through March 31, 2015 under the 2013 bigion Agreement.

The 2013 Distribution Agreement expired in Augud12 upon the expiration of the Company’s Regisiratatement on Form S-3 under
which the shares were sold.

Preferred stock dividendsHolders of the Company’s 10% Series A Convertitrieferred Stock, par value $0.01 per shasgeifes A Preferre
Stock”) were entitled to receive cumulative dividerat the rate per share (as a percentage ofatesl stalue of $1,000 per share) of 10% per
annum, whether or not declared by the Company’'sd@o&Directors, which were only payable in shavéthe Companys common stock upc
conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock or updéiquidation. For the year ended March 31, 20td,Gompany recorded accrued dividends
of $384,599, included as an increase in the accatedildeficit and in additional paid-in capital tve ccompanying consolidated balance
sheets.

On February 11, 2014, the Companigoard of Directors approved the mandatory conmersf all outstanding shares of the Series A Rrett
Stock pursuant to their terms, effective on or d@lf@bruary 24, 2014. Pursuant to the mandatoryemion, all 6,271 outstanding shares of
Series A Preferred Stock, and accrued dividendsdime converted into 25,760,881 shares of commukst

Preferred stock conversions In the period prior to the February 11, 2014 maodatonversion, holders of Series A Preferred Stamkvertec
430 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and acdivétbnds thereon, into 1,704,729 shares of comshock.

Convertible Notes conversiorin the year ended March 31, 2015, ConvertibleeNwtlders converted $350,000 of Convertible Notes$%v87
of accrued interest thereon into 389,676 sharesmwimon stock.

NOTE 10 — FOREIGN CURRENCY FORWARD CONTRACTS

The Company enters into forward contracts from timméme to reduce its exposure to foreign curreffiegtuations. The Company recognizes
in the balance sheet derivative contracts at faine; and reflects any net gains and losses ciyrientarnings. At March 31, 2015 and 2014,
the Company had no forward contracts outstandimdn @r loss on foreign currency forward contraetSich was de minimis during the
periods presented, is included in other incomeexpense.

NOTE 11 — PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for taxes in accordance w&@ &40, “Income Taxes”, which requires the recagniof tax benefits or expense on the
temporary differences between the tax basis an#l basis of its assets and liabilities. Deferreddssets and liabilities are measured using the
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxablerieda the years in which those differences are ewgeto be recovered or settled.
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Tax years 2012 through 2015 remain open to exarnmay federal and state tax jurisdictions. The @any has various foreign subsidiaries
for which tax years 2009 through 2015 remain opegexamination in certain foreign tax jurisdictions.

The Company’s income tax expense for the year ehirdh 31, 2015 and the Company’s income tax befafthe year ended March 31,
2014 both consist of federal, state and local tate#utable to GCP, which does not file a cordatted income tax return with the Company,
and foreign taxes. As of March 31, 2015, the Corygwad federal net operating loss carryforwardspgfraximately $80,200,000 for U.S. tax
purposes, which expire through 2035, and foreigroperating loss carryforwards of approximately $08,000, which carry forward without
limit of time. Utilization of the U.S. tax lossesambe limited by the “change of ownership” rulesasforth in section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code.

The pretax income, on a financial statement basis, froraifm sources totaled $90,466 for the year endediVal, 2015 and $168,233 for
year ended March 31, 201

The Company did not have any undistributed earnfirgya foreign subsidiaries at March 31, 2015 anéi420

Income taxes consist of the following:

Federal State and Local Total

March 31, 2015

Current 608,58¢ 382,23. 990,82:
Deferred 214,95¢ 73,22( 288,17t
Total 823,54 455,45; 1,278,99
March 31, 2014

Current — 31,06¢ 31,06¢
Deferred (550,48 (71,000 (621,48
Total (550,48)) (39,939 (590,41)

For the year ended March 31, 2015 the Companyiied$19,501 in interest and penalties which has betuded in general and
administrative expense on the accompanying coregelitistatements of operations.

The following table reconciles the effective incotar rate and the federal statutory rate of 34%.

Years ended March 31

2015 2014
% %
Computed expected tax benefit, at 3 (34.00 (34.00
Permanent item 3.1C 0.8C
Change in valuation allowan: 78.3( 5.8(
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili 0.0C 25.2(
Effect of foreign rate differentiz 1.8C 0.5(
Taxes included in minority intere 14.7C (0.30
Intercompany profi 2.6( (0.50
Other 3.5C 3.1C
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit (11.70 (7.46)
Income tax expense (benefit) 58.3( (6.86€)

The Company revised its prior year presentatioth@freconciliation of the effective income tax redeconform to the current year presentat

In connection with the investment in GCP, the Conypaecorded a deferred tax liability on the asdiealue of the acquired intangible assets
of $2,222,222, increasing the value of the asdet. deferred tax liability is being reversed over imortization period of the intangible asset
(15 years). For the year ended March 31, 2015 trepgany recognized $1,278,999 of income tax experaend for the year ended March
2014, the Company recognized $590,414 of incoméeéamefit, net.

The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to deferred tax assets and deferred taxiliglsilare presented below.

March 31,
2015 2014
Deferred income tax asse
Foreign currency transactio $ 74,000 $ 72,00(
Accounts receivabl 5,00( 5,00(

Inventory 518,00( 304,00(



Stock based compensati

Amortization of intangible:

Net operating loss carryforwar— U.S.
Net operating loss carryforwar— foreign
Other

Total gross asse
Less: Valuation allowance

Net deferred asset

Deferred income tax liability
Intangible assets acquired in acquisition of subsj
Intangible assets acquired in investment in GCP

Net deferred income tax liability

2,440,001 2,125,001
— 206,00(

32,676,00 32,186,00
1,990,001 1,974,00

2,00( 2,00(
37,705,00 36,874,00
(37,668,00) (36,401,00)

$ 37,000 $ 473,00
$ (629,449 $ (629,449
(740,709 (888,86

$ (1,370,15) $ (1,518,30)

In preparation of tax returns there was a truefudarch 31, 2014 net operating loss carryforwartkS-by $2,520,000 that was offset by a

change in the valuation allowance of $2,520,000.
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Through March 31, 2013, the Company recorded av@lllation allowance against its deferred tax asagit believed it was more likely than
not that such deferred tax assets would not b&eealThe Company released its deferred tax asdahation allowance allocated to GCP as of
March 31, 2014 due to management’s determinatianithvas “more likely than not” that the GCP’s eleed tax assets would be realized.
“More likely than not” is defined as greater th&d?® probability of occurrence. Management considénedjuidance in paragraphs 21-23 of
ASC 740-10-30 in forming its conclusion. A deteration as to the ultimate realization of the deféiax assets is dependent upon
management’s judgment and evaluation of both p@sénd negative evidence, forecasts of future laxabome, applicable tax planning
strategies, and an assessment of current and ftoreomic and business conditions. In 2014, GCPinvagosition of cumulative profitability
on a pre-tax basis, considering its operating tegat the three years ended March 31, 2014. Manageconcluded that this record of
cumulative profitability in recent years, in additito a long range forecast showing continued ity for GCP, provided sufficient positi\
evidence that the net U.S. federal tax benefitsentikely than not would be realized. Accordingly the year ended March 31, 2014, the
Company released the valuation allowance again§t'&S@et federal deferred assets, resulting in 888D benefit in provision for income
taxes for the year ended March 31, 2014. The Cosnpnognized the $473,330 benefit in provisionifmome taxes as an expense for the
ended March 31, 2015. In addition, at March 31,4@ie Company changed its estimate of the cunvela&ferred tax asset allocated to the
amortization of intangibles. The Company’s income henefit and effective tax rate for the yearseeidarch 31, 2015 and 2014 reflect the
impact of this valuation allowance reversal andngfgain estimate.

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assetsf &arch 31, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $3,@#8 and $36,401,000, respectively.
The net change in the total valuation allowanceteryears ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 was $0@®and $258,000, respectively. The

Company does not offset its deferred tax assetdianitities because its deferred tax assets aafilliies are in different taxable entities which
do not file consolidated returns.

NOTE 12 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

A. Stock Incentive Plan- In July 2003, the Company implemented the 20@gISincentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), which prowdder
awards of incentive and non-qualified stock optjomstricted stock and stock appreciation rightstfoofficers, employees,
consultants and directors to attract and retaih suividuals. Stock option grants under the Plangranted with an exercise price at
or above the fair market value of the underlyinghowon stock at the date of grant, generally vest avbree to five year period and
expire ten years after the grant d:

As established, there were 2,000,000 sharesrafnon stock available for distribution under ti8®2 Plan. In January 2009, the
Company’s shareholders approved an amendment 00&Plan to increase the number of shares alailaiger the 2003 Plan from
2,000,000 to 12,000,000 and to establish the maximumber of shares issuable to any one individuahiy particular year. As of
August 2013, no new awards may be issued unde&2b@ Plan

In October 2012, the Company’s shareholdersauepl the 2013 Incentive Compensation Plan (“20&8% which provides for

awards of incentive and non-qualified stock optjamstricted stock and stock appreciation rightst&officers, employees,
consultants and directors to attract and retaih sudividuals. As of March 31, 2015, 2,779,000 sisanad been issued under the 20172
Plan, with 7,221,000 shares remaining availablésguwance

Stock-based compensation expense for the gealesd March 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $783a@d$393,914, respectively, of
which $178,137 and $81,567, respectively, is inetlioh selling expense and $609,573 and $312,34@ectively, is included in
general and administrative expense for the yeate®March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. At M&th2015, total unrecognized
compensation cost amounted to approximately $154@8 representing 4,924,055 unvested options. ddssis expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2e22sy There were 677,127 options and 80,758 opéiraicised during the years
ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Theg@my did not recognize any related tax benefitieryears ended March 31,
2015 and 2014, as the effects were de mini

Stock Options— A summary of the options outstanding under the 2082013 Plans is as follow

Years ended March 31,

2015 2014

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of ye 11,174,00 $ 0.51 8,120,76! $ 0.64
Grantec 2,525,001 1.04 3,300,001 0.42
Exercisec (677,12°) 0.3¢ (80,759 0.32
Forfeited (1,033,69) 1.1C (166,00() 5.7¢
Outstanding and expected to vest at end of p¢ 11,988,18 $ 0.5¢ 11,174,00 $ 0.51

Exercisable at period end 7,064,13. $ 0.4¢ 5,511,44 $ 0.6




Weighted average fair value of grants during theople $ 0.6t $ 0.2¢
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The following table summarizes activity pertainbogoptions outstanding and exercisable at Marct2815:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted

Remaining Average Aggregate
Range of Life in Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise Prices Shares Years Shares Price Value
$0.01— $0.25 580,30( 3.6C 580,30( $ 02z $ 682,95
$0.26— $0.40 8,532,88! 6.2¢ 6,076,83. 0.34 6,470,30!
$1.01— $2.00 2,741,001 9.0t 273,00( 1.2¢ 69,87(
$6.01— $7.00 17,00( 1.9¢ 17,00( 6.3€ —
$7.01— $8.00 109,50( 1.21 109,50( 7.57 —
$8.01 — $9.00 7,50( 1.8¢ 7,50( 9.0C —

11,988,18 6.7 7,064,133 $ 04¢ $ 7,223,13.

Total stock options exercisable as of March 3152@&re 7,064,133. The weighted average exercise pfithese options was $0.49.
The weighted average remaining life of the optioutstanding was 6.73 years and of the options &sadie was 5.56 years.

The following summarizes activity pertaining to tBempany’s unvested options for the years endecividi, 2015 and 2014:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

Unvested at March 31, 2013 3,871,80 $ 0.32
Grantec 3,300,001 0.4:
Canceled or expire (10,000 0.32
Vested (1,499,24) 0.32
Unvested at March 31, 2014 5,662,561 $ 0.32
Grantec 2,525,001 1.04
Canceled or expire (954,08) 0.44
Vested (2,309,42) 0.41
Unvested at March 31, 2015 4,924,05 $ 0.7

The fair value of each award under the 2003 an® Zdans is estimated on the grant date using thekBbcholes option pricing model
and is affected by assumptions regarding a numbesroplex and subjective variables. The use ofj@tion pricing model also requires
the use of a number of complex assumptions inctudikpected volatility, risk-free interest rate, esfed dividends, and expected term.
Expected volatility is based on the Company’s histd volatility and the volatility of a peer groug companies over the expected life
of the option. The expected term and vesting objtgons represents the estimated period of tintié exercise. The expected term was
determined using the simplified method availabldarrcurrent guidance. The risk-free interest ratgaised on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant for the expécterm of the option. The Company has not paiatldivds on its common stock in the
past and does not plan to pay any dividends aroitsmon stock in the near future. Current authavigaguidance also requires the
Company to estimate forfeitures at the time of geard revise these estimates, if necessary, iresulest periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. The Company estinfatdsitures based on its expectation of future eigmee while considering its
historical experience.
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The fair value of options at grant date was esthaitsing the Black-Scholes option pricing moddiaitig the following weighted average
assumptions:

March 31,
2015 2014
Risk-free interest rat 1.47%- 1.7¢% 0.86%- 1.85%
Expected option life in yea 5.5- 6.2 5.5-6.2¢F
Expected stock price volatilil 74%- 77% 65%- 76%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%

B. Warrants— The Company has entered into various warrant agrats

2011 Warrants issued in connection with the Seki€seferred Stock

The warrants issued in connection with the Seri€y&ferred Stock (the “2011 Warrants”) had an azerprice of $0.38 per share,
subject to adjustment, and were exercisable farmg of five years. The exercise price of the 2Wdrrants was equal to 125% of the
conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock.

The Company accounted for the 2011 Warrants issuddne 2011 in the consolidated financial statdmas a liability at their initial

fair value of $487,022 and accounted for the 20Ekrfdhts issued in October 2011 as a liability airtiitial fair value of $780,972.
Changes in the fair value of the 2011 Warrants wecegnized in earnings for each subsequent reygaptriod. In November 2013, in
accordance with certain terms of the 2011 Warrahésdown-round provisions included in the termg¢hefwarrant ceased to be in force
or effect as a result of the historical volume vintégl average price and trading volume of the Coyipasommon stock. The Company
then reclassed the fair value of the outstandingamé liability of $6,187,968 to equity, resultimgan increase to additional paid-in
capital.

For the year ended March 31, 2014 the Company dedaa loss on the change in the value of the 204 afts of $5,392,594.

The fair value of the warrants is a Level 3 failueaunder the valuation hierarchy and was estimasatty the Black-Scholes option
pricing model utilizing the following assumptions:

At Conversior

Stock price $ 0.92
Risk-free interest rat 0.61%
Expected option life in yea 2.63
Expected stock price volatilit 55%
Expected dividend yiel 0%

2011 Warrants exercisedOn April 2, 2014, the Company called for the adlation of all 1,657,802 unexercised 2011 Warrants
pursuant to the terms of such 2011 Warrants adisfging applicable conditions. Pursuant to thiéfoa cancellation, holders of all
1,657,802 unexercised 2011 Warrants exercised 20th Warrants and received 1,657,802 shares of aonstock. The Company
received $629,965 in cash upon the exercise oéthesrants. In the year ended March 31, 2014, inelde2011 Warrants exercised
10,127,123 2011 Warrants and received shares ofmconstock. The Company received $3,848,332 in upsh the exercise of these
warrants. These exercised warrants had a weightrdge fair market value of $0.50 at exercise date.

For the year ended March 31, 2014, 1,543,214 whastzares expired unexercised with a weighted aecfi@g market value of $0.(

The following is a summary of the Company’s outdiag warrants for the periods presented:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price
Warrants Per Warrant

Warrants outstanding and exercisable, March 313201 11,904,992 $ 0.4¢
Granted — —
Exercisec (10,127,12) 0.3¢
Forfeited — —
Warrants outstanding and exercisable, March 314 1,777,80. $ 0.9C
Granted — —

Exercisec — —



Forfeited (1,657,80.) 0.3¢

Warrants outstanding and exercisable, March 315201 120,00 $ 8.0C
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NOTE 13 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Pallini S.p.A. (“Pallini”), as successor intémest to I.L.A.R. S.p.A., is a shareholder in @@mpany and one of the officers of Pallini
served as a director of the Company until March2®d,5. In January 2011, CB-USA entered into aneagent ("New Agreement")
with Pallini regarding the importation and distritmn of certain Pallini brand products. The termshe New Agreement were effect
as of April 1, 2010

Under the New Agreement, the Company is peeahith import Pallini Limoncello and its flavor ert@ons at a set price, updated
annually, and is obligated to set aside a portfaih® gross margin toward a marketing fund foriRalThe New Agreement also
encompasses the hiring of a Pallini Brand ManagtreaCompany with Pallini reimbursing the costshi$ position up to a stipulated
annual amount. These reimbursements are includeelling expense.

For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, thep@oy purchased goods from Pallini for $3,840,44d6 $3,467,812, respective
As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, Pallini owed the @any $138,750 and $115,288, respectively, fortitse of marketing expense,
which is included in due from shareholders andiaféis on the consolidated balance sheet. As oEMaL, 2015 and 2014, the
Company was indebted to Pallini for $511,146 an2id$257, respectively, which is included in duehargholders and affiliates on t
consolidated balance sheet.

B. In November 2008, the Company entered intcaaagement services agreement with Vector Group &tchore than 5% shareholder,
under which Vector Group agreed to make availabthé Company the services of Richard J. Lampentdvé&roup’s executive vice
president, effective October 11, 2008 to servdhasCompany’s president and chief executive offésed to provide certain other
financial and accounting services, including aasis¢ with complying with Section 404 of the Sartza@aley Act of 2002. In
consideration for such services, the Company agepdy Vector Group an annual fee of $100,000s phy direct, out-of-pocket
costs, fees and other expenses incurred by VectargGr Mr. Lampen in connection with providing Buservices, and to indemnify
Vector Group for any liabilities arising out of tpeovision of the services. The agreement is teaivim by either party upon 30 days’
prior written notice. For the years ended MarchZ11,5 and 2014, Vector Group was paid $135,475540d,746, respectively, under
this agreement. These charges have been includgzhegral and administrative exper

C. In November 2008, the Company entered intagtrement to reimburse Ladenburg Thalmann FinaBeialices Inc. (“LTS") for its
costs in providing certain administrative, legati dimancial services to the Company. For the yeaded March 31, 2015 and 2014,
LTS was paid $210,875 and $126,000, respectivelgeuthis agreement. Mr. Lampen, the Company’sigieas and chief executive
officer and a director, is the president and chiafcutive officer and a director of LTS and founastdirectors of the Company serve
directors of LTS, including Phillip Frost, M.D. whe the Chairman and principal shareholder of L

D. As described in Note 8D, in March 2013, the Compamtgred into a Participation Agreement with certaiated parties. As descrit
in Notes 8E and 8F, in August and October 2013Cihimpany entered into various notes with certdimted parties

NOTE 14 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. The Company has entered into a supply agreewiémlIrish Distillers Limited (“IDL"), which prowdes for the production of blended
Irish whiskeys for the Company until the contractarminated by either party in accordance withtéms of the agreement. IDL may
terminate the contract if it provides at leastysbars prior notice to the Company, except for biednder this agreement, the
Company provides IDL with a forecast of the estidaamount of liters of pure alcohol it requirestfoe next four fiscal contract ye¢
and agrees to purchase 90% of that amount, subjeettain annual adjustments. For the contraat geding June 30, 2015, the
Company has contracted to purchase approxima¥&ig,662 or $840,516 (translated at the March 3152&change rate) in bulk Iri
whiskey, of which €729,533, or $791,551, has baeuhmsed as of March 31, 2015. For the contraateeding June 30, 2016, the
Company has contracted to purchase approxima839,673 or $904,544 (translated at the March 3152&change rate) in bulk Iri
whiskey. The Company is not obligated to pay IDLday product not yet received. During the ternthig supply agreement, IDL has
the right to limit additional purchases above thexmitment amoun

B. The Company has also entered into a suppleagent with IDL, which provides for the productiginsingle malt Irish whiskeys for
the Company until the contract is terminated bgegiparty in accordance with the terms of the agese. IDL may terminate the
contract if it provides at least thirteen yearspriotice to the Company, except for breach. Utliisragreement, the Company
provides IDL with a forecast of the estimated amaifrliters of pure alcohol it requires for the néxelve fiscal contract years and
agrees to purchase 80% of that amount, subjedrtaioc annual adjustments. For the contract yedingnJune 30, 2015, the Company
has contracted to purchase approximately €303,9$320,841 (translated at the March 31, 2015 exghaate) in bulk Irish whiskey,
of which €217,865, or $236,386, has been purchased March 31, 2015. For the year ending Jun2@06, the Company has
contracted to purchase approximatedA8,787 or $373,012 (translated at the March 3152&change rate) in bulk Irish whiskey. 1
Company is not obligated to pay IDL for any produet yet received. During the term of this suppgiyement, IDL has the right to
limit additional purchases above the commitment @mho

C. The Company has a distribution agreement @ablic Heritage Corporation, Ltd., an internatiosigbplier, to be the sole-producer of
Celtic Honey, one of the Compé's products, for an indefinite peric

D. The Company leases office space in New York, NYhlby Ireland and Houston, TX. The New York, NY sesbegan on May 1, 20



and expires on April 30, 2016 and provides for rhgnpayments of $19,975. The Dublin lease commewcellarch 1, 2009 and
extends through October 31, 2016 and provides forthly payments of €1,100 or $1,194 (translateti@tMarch 31, 2015 exchange
rate). The Houston, TX lease commenced on ApriB15 and extends through June 26, 2018 and pofadenonthly payments of
$3,440. The Company has also entered intc-cancelable operating leases for certain officemgant.
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Future minimum lease payments for leases withalhiti remaining terms in excess of one year afelbsvs:

Years ending March 31, Amount

2016 $ 289,37¢
2017 70,01:
2018 42,54¢
2019 10,74:
Total $ 412,67¢

In addition to the above annual rental paymentsbmpany is obligated to pay its pro-rata shangtibfy and maintenance expenses
on the leased premises. Rent expense under ogeledises amounted to approximately $359,714 anfl, 386 for the years ended
March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and is ohetlin general and administrative expel

Under the amended terms of the agreement wrdieh the Company purchased McLain & Kyne, the @any was obligated to pay
an earn-out to the sellers based on the finaneidbpnance of the acquired business. As of Jun@@03, the Company had reached
the specified case sale threshold for contingensideration under the agreement. Accordingly, mth&r contingent consideration v
be due. For the years ended March 31, 2015 and #@d 4ellers earned $0 and $5,940, respectivelienthis agreemer

As described in Note 8C, in August 2011, tlhen@any and CB-USA entered into the Keltic Facildg,amended in July 2012, March
2013, August 2013, November 2013, August 2014 apdetnber 2014.

Except as set forth below, the Company befi¢hat neither it nor any of its subsidiaries igently subject to litigation which, in the
opinion of management after consultation with celins likely to have a material adverse effectloe Company.

The Company may become involved in litigation frome to time relating to claims arising in the oraiy course of its business.
These claims, even if not meritorious, could resuthe expenditure of significant financial andrmagerial resource

NOTE 15 — CONCENTRATIONS

A. Credit Risk— The Company maintains its cash and cash equitsaleEances at various large financial institutitred, at times, may

exceed federally and internationally insured limitke Company has not experienced any losses mazaounts and believes it is not
exposed to any significant credit risk or ce

Customers— Sales to one customer, the Southern Wine ands$SpfrAmerica, Inc. family of companies, accounfedapproximately
29.7% and 31.9% of the Compasyiet sales for the years ended March 31, 2012@bd, respectively, and approximately 30.1%
35.1% of accounts receivable at March 31, 201528d!, respectively

NOTE 16 — GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company operates in one reportable segmene-satle of premium beverage alcohol. The Compangdyzt categories are rum and
related products, liqueur, whiskey, vodka and tiaqdihe Company reports its operations in two gaphic areas: International and United

States.

The consolidated financial statements include ragsrand assets generated in or held in the U.Soagign countries. The following table s
forth the amounts and percentage of consolidatied,saet, consolidated income (loss) from operatieonsolidated net loss attributable to
controlling interests, consolidated income tax @nge) benefit and consolidated assets from theddodbforeign countries and consolidated

sales, net by category.
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Years ended March 31

2015 2014
Consolidated Sales, n«
International 7,938,39. 13.8% $ 7,305,511 15.2%
United States 49,519,02 86.2% 40,834,96 84.8%
Total Consolidated Sales, net 57,457,42 100.% $ 48,140,48 100.(o
Consolidated Income (Loss) from Operatic
International 17,17. (1.6% $ (26€) 0.C%
United States (1,095,07) 101.6% (1,319,56) 100.(%
Total Consolidated Loss from Operations (1,077,90) 100.% $ (1,319,83) 100.(o4
Consolidated Net Loss Attributable to Controlling
Interests
International $ (101,45) 27% $ (153,419 1.7%
United States (3,698,28)) 97.2% (8,753,32) 98.5%
Total Consolidated Net Loss Attributable to
Controlling Interests $ (3,799,74) 100.(% $ (8,906,74) 100.(%
Income tax (expense) benefit, n
United States $ (1,278,99) 100.(% $ 590,41« 100.(%
Consolidated Sales, net by categt
Rum $ 16,998,03 29.% $ 16,643,64 34.€%
Whiskey 19,147,02 33.2% 13,521,87 28.1%
Liqueurs 8,756,37! 15.2% 8,992,27 18.7%
Vodka 2,413,99. 4.2% 2,852,95! 5.9%
Tequila 208,84! 0.4% 218,55: 0.5%
Wine — 0.C% 284,80t 0.6%
Related Non-Alcoholic Beverage Products 9,933,14. 17.2% 5,626,37 11.€9%
Total Consolidated Sales, net $ 57,457,42 100.(% $ 48,140,48 100.(04
As of March 31,
2015 2014
Consolidated Asset
International $ 2,052,58: 47% $ 2,201,34. 6.C%
United States 41,986,35 95.2% 34,320,16 94.(%
Total Consolidated Assets $ 44,038,94 100.% $ 36,521,511 100.(%

NOTE 17 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Equity distribution agreementBetween April 1, 2015 and June 11, 2015, the Gomsold an additional 633,209 Shares pursuant tc
the 2014 Distribution Agreement, with total grossqeeds of $1,040,541, before deducting sales agehoffering expenses of $20,870.

Investment in Copperhead Distillery Comp:

In June 2015, the Company purchased approxima@ly & Copperhead Distillery Company (“Copperheddt)$500,000.
Copperhead owns and operates the Kentucky Artisstill€ry. The investment is part of a wide-reachagreement to build a new warehouse
to store Jefferson’s bourbons, provide distilliagpabilities using special mash-bills made from llgagrown grains, and create a visitor center
and store to enhance the consumer experienceddefifierson’s brand. The Company'’s investmentheéllused for the construction of a new
warehouse in Crestwood, Kentucky dedicated exablysito Jefferson’s and will be accounted for untther equity method of accounting.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresliéfised in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promuthataler the Exchange Act) that are
designed to ensure that information that woulddsgiired to be disclosed in Exchange Act repontedsrded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in theC3 rules and forms, and that such informatioacsumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Chief Executive Offiaed &hief Financial Officer (our Principal Executi@dficer and Principal Financial Office
respectively), as appropriate, to allow timely dams regarding required disclosure.

As of March 31, 2015, we carried out an evaluatiorger the supervision and with the participatibowr management, including the
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finandificer, of the effectiveness of the design andragion of our disclosure controls and
procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Princigatktive Officer and Principal Financial Officermmbuded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the end of theoderovered by this Annual Report.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finarad Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting. As defined in the securiti
laws, internal control over financial reportingaigprocess designed by, or under the supervisiamuofPrincipal Executive and Principal
Financial Officers and effected by our Board ofd2tors, management, and other personnel, to progamnable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purpogeadcordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenamceanrds that in reasonable detail accur:
and fairly reflect the transactions and disposgiohour assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurtratdransactions are recorded as necessary tc
permit preparation of financial statements in adeace with generally accepted accounting princjged that our receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with authoripatmf management and directors; and (iii) proveesonable assurance regarding preve
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitione ws disposition of our assets that could have mah effect on the financial statements.

Our internal control over financial reporting issiged to provide reasonable assurance regardingeliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externpbréing purposes in accordance with generally aecepccounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d@¢tmisstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide mrdgonable assurance with respect to financiedraent preparation and presentation. Also
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutufe periods are subject to the risk that contrdy become inadequate because of chang
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effeatige of the internal controls over financial rejpgr{as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of Marct2815, based on the frameworkiimiernal Control — Integrated Framework (1992)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission.

Management, including the Principal Executive ariddpal Financial Officers, have concluded that imiernal control over financial
reporting was effective as of March 31, 2015 bametheir evaluation of our internal control overdicial reporting under the framework in
Internal Control— Integrated Framework (1992)

EisnerAmper LLP, an independent registered pulgiamanting firm, has audited our consolidated finanstatements and the effectiveness
of internal controls over financial reporting asMérch 31, 2015 as stated in its reports whichiraskided herein.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm
There have been no changes in our internal cootrl financial reporting that occurred in the fouiiscal quarter that has materially

affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadf, our internal control over financial reporting.
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(d) Report of Independent Registered Public AccountiRigm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Castle Brands Inc.

We have audited Castle Brands Inc. and subsidifties‘Company”)internal control over financial reporting as of Mar31, 2015, based
criteria established in the 1992ernal Control - Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadwa
Commission (“COSO”"). The Comparsyinanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comivel financial reporting, included in the accomypag Managemen$ Annual Report ¢
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our msgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial report
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aalli@ing the design and operating effectivenesatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestawée believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranagiregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial stateimidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeslcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdose policies and procedures that (i) pertaithéomaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseo€dtmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdaaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteaif unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all malerespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as of March 31, 2015, be
on criteria established in the 19B®ernal Control - Integrated Framewoiksued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolida
balance sheets of the Company as of March 31, 20852014, and the related consolidated stateméripavations, comprehensive Ic
changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flowedoh of the years in the twear period ended March 31, 2015, and our repaetdiune 1!
2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
June 15, 2015
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

This information will be contained in our defini@yproxy statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting c&t@holders, to be filed with t
SEC not later than 120 days after the end of aaafiyear covered by this report, and incorpor&ieein by reference or, alternatively,
amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of FornKi@-o later than the end of such 120 day period.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

This information will be contained in our definiproxy statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting c&t®@holders, to be filed with t
SEC not later than 120 days after the end of aaafiyear covered by this report, and incorpor&iein by reference or, alternatively,
amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of FornKi@-o later than the end of such 120 day period.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial vners and Management and Related Shareholder Matter

Information regarding equity compensation planseisforth in Item 5 of this annual report on For@aKlLand is incorporated herein
reference.

The other information required by this Item 12 wilk contained in our definitive proxy statement dor 2015 Annual Meeting
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC not latentthi20 days after the end of our fiscal year calésethis report, and incorporated hereil
reference or, alternatively, by amendment to tlis1+10-K under cover of Form 10-K/A no later thhe £nd of such 120 day period.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

This information will be contained in our definiéiproxy statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting oargholders, to be filed with t
SEC not later than 120 days after the end of aaafiyear covered by this report, and incorpor&ieein by reference or, alternatively,
amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of FornKi@-o later than the end of such 120 day period.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

This information will be contained in our definiéiproxy statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting oargholders, to be filed with t
SEC not later than 120 days after the end of aaafiyear covered by this report, and incorpor&ieein by reference or, alternatively,
amendment to this Form 10-K under cover of FornKi@-o later than the end of such 120 day period.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(@) The following documents are filed as part of thepRBrt:
1. Financial Statemen— See Index to Financial Statements at Iltem 8 on Bag# this annual report on Form-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedu— Omitted because they are not applicable or notiredj

3. Exhibits— The following exhibits are filed as part of, or amporated by reference into, this annual reporfform 1(-K:

(b)
Exhibit
Number Exhibit

1.1 Equity Distribution Agreement, dated Novemp@r 2014, between Castle Brands Inc. and BarnmB@search Associates, Inc., as
sales agent (incorporated by reference to Exhiitd our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on November 21, 201

3.1 Composite Articles of Incorporation of then@many (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.bdo annual report on Form Xfor
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with 8&C on June 30, 201

3.2 Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by rafeseto Appendix E to our definitive proxy statementSchedule 14A filed with the
SEC on December 30, 20C
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4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorpodaby reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Post-Effecvaendment No. 1 to Form S-8
(File No. 33:-160380) filed with the SEC on March 10, 20.

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Aggaerdated as of September 22, 2014, by and am@igF#AnCo | LP, the
Company and Castle Brands (USA) Corp. (incorporbteckference to Exhibit 4.1 to our current remortForm 8-K filed with the
SEC on September 24, 201

Amended and Restated Term Note, dated aspt€fber 22, 2014, in favor of ACF FinCo | LP (irpaorated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on September 24, 20

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Nattedias of September 22, 2014, in favor of ACF BihCP (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our current report @nrk €-K filed with the SEC on September 24, 20

5% Convertible Subordinated Note Purchase Agreernmgted as of October 21, 2013, among the Comaadythe parties set fol
on the signature pages attached thereto (incogubiat reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our current réporForm 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 25, 201

Form of 5% Subordinated Convertible Note RQ#&8, issued by the Company (incorporated by rateréo Exhibit 4.1 to our
current report on Form-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 201

Export Agreement, dated as of February @@5Detween Gosling Partners Inc. and Gosling’soBx@@Bermuda) Limited (Exhibit
10.1)(1)(2)

Amendment No. 1 to Export Agreement, datedfaebruary 18, 2005, by and among Gosling-C&shners Inc. and Gosling’s
Export (Bermuda) Limited (Exhibit 10.2)(1)(

National Distribution Agreement, dated as of Sefiten8, 2004, by and between Castle Brands (USAp.Gord Goslin’s Export
(Bermuda) Limited (Exhibit 10.3)(1)(:

Subscription Agreement, dated as of FebrLi@r2005, by and between Castle Brands Inc. argliri@eCastle Partners Inc. (Exhil
10.4)(1)

Stockholders' Agreement, dated Februar2@5, by and among Gosling-Castle Partners Incttam@ersons listed on Schedule |
thereto (Exhibit 10.5)(1

Agreement, dated as of January 12, 201eeet Pallini SpA and Castle Brands (USA) Corp.diporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Fori-K filed with the SEC on January 18, 2011)

Supply Agreement, dated as of January 15,20€tween Irish Distillers Limited and Castle Bargpirits Group Limited and Castle
Brands (USA) Corp. (Exhibit 10.8)(1)(

Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement, datedf&eptember 20, 2005, to the Supply Agreemexteddas of January 1, 2005,
among Irish Distillers Limited and Castle Brandsri&pGroup Limited and Castle Brands (USA) Cotpxlifibit 10.9)(1)

Amended and Restated Worldwide Distribufdgneement, dated as of April 16, 2001, by and betw@&reat Spirits Company LLC
and Gaelic Heritage Corporation Limited (Exhibit 1@)(1)

Letter Agreement, dated November 7, 2088yden Castle Brands Inc. and Vector Group Ltaafiporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Fori-K filed with the SEC on November 12, 20(

Form of Indemnification Agreement entergtd with directors (incorporated by reference tdibi 10.1 to our quarterly report on
Form 1(-Q filed on August 14, 201:

Form of Castle Brands Inc. Stock OptionrBfegreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibitl to our current report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on June 16, 200¢

Amended and Restated Employment Agreerdated as of November 13, 2007, between Castle Brizwed and Alfred J. Small
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.2dr current report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 200"
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10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

Third Amended and Restated Employment Agesd, effective as of February 26, 2010, by and/éen Castle Brands Inc. and
Mark Andrews (incorporated by reference to Exhilfitl to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2010

Amended and Restated Employment Agreerafattive as of May 2, 2005, by and between Ca&téands Inc. and T. Kelley
Spillane (1)4

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 6, 2010, between €8stnds Inc. and Alfred J.
Small (incorporated herein by reference to ExHIBIR2 to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on May 7, 2010

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 6, 2010, by and betv@sstle Brands Inc. and
T. Kelley Spillane (incorporated herein by refaremo Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Forr 8iled with the SEC on May 7,
2010)#

Reaffirmation Agreement, dated as of Sep&ri2, 2014, by and among the Company, CastledBréiSA) Corp., the officers
signatory thereto, certain term loan participamid eertain junior lenders to the Company (incorfettady reference to Exhibit 10.1
to our current report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on September 24, 20
Castle Brands Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, asnaled (Exhibit 10.29)(1)

Amendment to Castle Brands Inc. 2003 Stock Incerfilan (Exhibit 10.30)(1)

Amendment No. 2 to Castle Brands Inc. 28@8k Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencExbibit 10.24 to our annual report
on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended March 30, 2009 filedhathe SEC on June 29, 200¢

Amended and Restated Warrant Agreemergddadptember 27, 2005, by and between Castle Blaadand Keltic Financial
Partners, LP (Exhibit 10.52)(

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incoaifed by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our quarteglyort on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on February 17, 200¢

Amendment No. 2 to Bottling and Servicesegment, dated as of July 23, 2009, by and betWeam Limited and Castle Brands
Spirits Company Limited (incorporated by refereta&xhibit 10.1 to our current report on For-K filed on July 29, 2009)(2

Employment Agreement, made as of Januarg@B, by and between Castle Brands Inc. and SolBiover (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Amendment No. 1 toannual report on Form -K filed with the SEC on July 29, 2009

Form of Validity and Support Agreementgedisas of August 19, 2011, among Keltic Financiatrigas 11, LP, the Company, Castle
Brands (USA) Corp. and the officer signatory ther@icorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ourent report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on August 25, 201

Fee Letter, dated as of March 11, 2013 ngntlee Company, Castle Brands (USA) Corp. anduh®jf participants party thereto
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to aurent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 201
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10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

211
23.1
31.1
31.2

32.1

101.INS*

101.SCH’
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE’

*

#

(1)

(2)

Amendment to Employment Agreement, mads# dsly 26, 2011, by and between Castle Brandsadnd.John S. Glover
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ounrent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on July 27, 2011)

Employment Letter, dated July 29, 2011abg between Castle Brands USA Corp. and Maria Atk Pena (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our quarterly reportform 1(-Q filed with the SEC on November 14, 2011

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Ageagrdated as of May 11, 2012, by and between €Bs#nds Inc. and
Kelley Spillane (incorporated herein by referenm&xhibit 10.1 to our current report on For-K filed on May 17, 2012)

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 11, 2012, betweenl€€Bsands Inc. and Alfred J.
Small (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi2 to our current report on Forr-K filed on May 17, 2012):

Amendment to the Third Amended and Restategloyment Agreement, effective as of May 11, 2a#2and between Castle
Brands Inc. and Mark Andrews (incorporated by rfiee to Exhibit 10.3 to our current report on F&-K filed on May 17, 2012)

Castle Brands Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive flecorporated by reference to Exhibit A to oufiidve proxy statement on Schedule
14A for the 2012 annual meeting of shareholdele fivith the SEC on September 11, 201

Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restatguidyment Agreement, dated as of January 24, 20i4nd between Castle Brands
Inc. and Mark Andrews (incorporated by referencEsbibit 10.1 to our current report on Fori-K filed on January 27, 2014

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of January 24, 2014, by ahdden Castle Brands Inc.
and John Glover (incorporated by reference to Bkfih2 to our current report on Forr-K filed on January 27, 2014

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of January 24, 2014, by ahdden Castle Brands Inc.
and T. Kelley Spillane (incorporated by referermé&xhibit 10.3 to our current report on Fori-K filed on January 27, 2014

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of January 24, 2014, by ahdden Castle Brands Inc.
and Alfred J. Small (incorporated by reference xbiBit 10.4 to our current report on Forr-K filed on January 27, 2014

List of Subsidiaries’

Consent of EisnerAmper LLF

Certification of CEO Pursuant to Rule -14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of thiea®a-Oxley Act of 2002*
Certification of CFO Pursuant to Rule -14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of thkeaba-Oxley Act of 2002*

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant tdJ18.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Se@térof the Sarbane3xley Act of
2002*

XBRL Instance Documen
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documg
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutn
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doentr
Filed herewitt
Management Compensation Contr

Previously filed as an exhibit to our RegistratStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-128676)ctviwas declared effective on
April 5, 2006, and incorporated by reference het

Confidential portions of this document are dedtpursuant to a request for confidential treatrtteat has been granted by the
Commission, and have been filed separately wittCti@mission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized, on June 15, 2015.

CASTLE BRANDS INC.

By:

/s/ ALFRED J. SMALL

Alfred J. Small

Senior Vice President, Chief Financ
Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Princi
Financial Officer and Principal Accountit
Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each individual whose signature appears below @atess and appoints each of Richard J. Lampen dfiddA\J. Small, such person’s true
and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full pemof substitution and resubstitution, for suchsparand in such person’s name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any dremhzendments to this report on Form KQand to file the same, with all exhibits theredad al
documents in connection therewith, with the Sem#iand Exchange Commission, granting unto eachagtirney-in-fact and agent full power
and authority to do and perform each and everwpiadithing requisite and necessary to be done irabadt the premises, as fully to all intents
and purposes as such person might or could dorgopehereby ratifying and confirming all that aaid attorney-in-fact and agent, or any
substitute or substitutes of any of them, may ldiyfio or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ RICHARD J. LAMPEN President and Chief Executive Officer and Directo June 15, 2015
Richard J. Lampe (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ ALFRED J. SMALL Senior Vice President, Chief Financial June 15, 2015

Alfred J. Small

/s MARK ANDREWS

Mark Andrews

/s/ JoHN F. BEAUDETTE

John F. Beaudet!

/s/ HENRY C. BEINSTEIN

Henry C. Beinsteil

/s/ PHILLIP FROST, M.D.

Phillip Frost, M.D.

/s/ GLENN L. HALPRYN

Glenn L. Halpryr

/s/ DR. RICHARD M. KRASNO

Dr. Richard M. Krasnt

/s/ STEVEN D. RUBIN

Steven D. Rubil

/sI MARK ZEITCHICK

Mark Zeitchick

Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accountii

Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015

June 15, 2015




EXHIBIT 21.1

Castle Brands Inc. Subsidiaries

Name State/Country of Incorporation
Castle Brands (USA) Cor Delaware, US#
Goslinc-Castle Partners In Delaware, US/
Castle Brands Spirits Group Limit Ireland
Castle Brands Spirits Company Limit Ireland
Castle Brands Spirits Marketing and Sales Compamytéd Ireland

Castle Brands Spirits Company (GB) Limit United Kingdom




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRegistration Statements of Castle Brands Inc. amFS-3 (Nos. 333-198414, 333600
and 333-143422) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-133567, 188380 and 33389750) of our reports dated June 15, 2015, onaodits of th
consolidated financial statements as of March 8152and 2014 and for each of the years in the @&y period ended March 31, 2015, anc
effectiveness of Castle Brands Ircihternal control over financial reporting as oaidh 31, 2015, which reports are included in thisida
Report on Form 10-K.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP
New York, New York
June 15, 2015




EXHIBIT 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Richard J. Lampen, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Castle Brands Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over finanoiglorting, or caused such internal control oveatditial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagiisclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abndwver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theivedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which al
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 15, 2015 /s/ Richard J. Lamper
Richard J. Lamper
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Alfred J. Small, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Castle Brands Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does niotado any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, niatauisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of ogerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer ahare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repogtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgar caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

b) Designed such internal control over finanogglorting, or caused such internal control oveatfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagiisclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in theéstegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrang’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrdwer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theveden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: June 15, 2015 /s/ Alfred J. Small
Alfred J. Small
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourgiOfficer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted patdo Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of22@0chard J. Lampen, the President

and Chief Executive Officer of Castle Brands Inbe(*Registrant”) and Alfred J. Small, Chief Fin&lcOfficer of the Registrant, each hereby
certifies that:

1. The Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktf@ period ended March 31, 2015 (the “Periodic R&pfully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Refairty presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of
the Registrant.

Date: June 15, 2015

/sl Richard J. Lampe /s! Alfred J. Smal
Richard J. Lampe Alfred J. Small
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Office

(Principal Executive Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourdiOfficer)




